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F I N A N C I A L  H I G H L I G H T S

(In millions, except per share data) 2001 2000

Revenues(1) $25,256 $25,356

Segment operating income(1) 4,038 4,124

Diluted earnings per share before the cumulative effect of accounting changes,
excluding restructuring and impairment charges and gain on the sale 
of businesses(1) 0.72 0.72

Cash flow from operations 3,048 3,755

Borrowings 9,769 9,461

Stockholders’ equity 22,672 24,100

(1)Pro forma revenues, segment operating income and earnings per share reflect the sale of Fairchild Publications, the acquisition of Infoseek, the conversion of
Internet Group common stock into Disney common stock and the closure of the GO.com portal business as if these events and the adoption of SOP 00-2 had
occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2000, eliminating the one-time impact of those events.

Cover: Opening in June 2002 is the heartwarming

Disney feature animated film, Lilo & Stitch.
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3. Established businesses that remain strong and provide a solid

foundation of earnings despite the economic downturn: While

some businesses face near-term challenges, others, including 

cable networks and Studio Entertainment, provided robust financial

performance in 2001 and will be key drivers of Disney’s growth

going forward.

4. New initiatives that the company believes will help drive long-

term growth and value: Exciting new cable properties like ABC

Family, SoapNet and Toon Disney are expected to contribute to

the company’s success in the U.S. in the years to come. Outside

the U.S., the company has launched a host of expansion initia-

tives, including new Disney parks and resorts in Tokyo, Paris and

Hong Kong, the development of new Disney Channels around the

world, and the recent acquisition of Fox Kids Europe. As a whole,

Disney’s businesses outside the U.S. and Canada constituted 

17 percent of total revenues in 2001. Given the global appeal of

Disney’s brands and assets, international expansion continues to

be one of the most exciting potential sources of long-term growth

for the company.

I I I .  S H A R E H O L D E R  V A L U E

Over the past three years, the company has systematically increased

its emphasis on cash flow and capital returns for each of its major

business units. These metrics, along with a continued focus on ongoing

earnings growth, are the primary financial measures used to track

and evaluate segment performance and are incorporated in the annual

budgeting process, monthly reports, strategic plans and, ultimately,

are factored into executive compensation.

The company believes that this focus on the fundamental drivers of

shareholder value will have a positive impact on its ongoing opera-

tions and financial results. For example, Disney Parks and Resorts

have been and will continue to be among the most important 

symbols of Disney magic, product quality, and guest experience.

They are also an important source of future earnings and cash flow

growth and are being managed to maximize both of these important

aspects of value.

In Studio Entertainment, a successful creative effort coupled with

decreased film spending resulted in a 2001 live-action film slate that

earned a return on investment above the company’s cost of capital.

At the same time, Disney continued to deliver pictures that audiences

loved, as evidenced by the company's consistent position as number

one or number two in annual market share since 1990. 

The successful reinvestment of earnings into new and existing 

businesses is an important source of ongoing shareholder value.

However, as Disney has just completed a period of sizable investment

Thomas O. Staggs

Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,

The Walt Disney Company
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in domestic parks and resorts expansion and, given the company’s

strengthened focus on increasing returns on invested capital, the annual

level of capital spending has contracted. For fiscal 2002, capital expendi-

tures are expected to decline by more than $500 million from 2001 levels.

The shareholder value program has already shown signs of success.

Over the past years, after-tax cash flow from operations has increased

from approximately $1.8 billion in 1998 to just over $3 billion 

in 2001, an annual growth rate of nearly 20 percent. 

Deducting capital expenditures from these figures shows that over the

same period, after-tax free cash flow has grown by almost $1.8 billion. 

Beyond investing its cash flow in new and existing businesses, 

the company looks for acquisitions that can create additional value

for shareholders. In October 2001, Disney acquired Fox Family

Worldwide for $5.2 billion. This acquisition includes the Fox Family

Channel, a programming service now known as ABC Family that

currently reaches 81 million cable and satellite television subscribers

throughout the U.S.; a 76 percent interest in Fox Kids Europe, which

reaches more than 24 million subscribers across Europe; Fox Kids

channels in Latin America; and the Saban Library and Entertainment

Production businesses. These businesses represent an important

strategic extension of the company’s programming assets and reach.

Disney also seeks to increase returns through the repurchase of its

own stock. In 2001, the company invested a total of $1.1 billion to

purchase 63.9 million shares of Disney common stock at an average

price of $16.62 per share. Since 1983, the company has repurchased

nearly 549 million shares at a total cost of just under $4.4 billion. 

At the November 30 stock price, these shares represent a market

value of more than $11 billion.

I V .  O P E R A T I N G  E F F I C I E N C I E S

The company continually strives to improve the efficiency of its 

operations. As part of those efforts, management set out to reduce

overall company costs by $500 million by the end of 2001 and has

$1,780
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Peter E. Murphy

Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Strategic Officer,

The Walt Disney Company

met that target. The goal was met through cost-saving measures in

each of Disney’s business units and through corporatewide initiatives,

including a strategic sourcing effort in purchasing, consolidation of

accounting and finance functions and increased shared services across

operating functions. In response to the softening in the economy that

took place in 2001, Disney announced in March the elimination of

approximately 4,000 full-time jobs through a combination of voluntary

and involuntary reductions. These reductions should ultimately result

in an additional $350 million in annual savings to the company.

Disney is committed to an ongoing evaluation of its cost base even 

as it continues to invest for growth.

V .  C A P I T A L  S T R U C T U R E  

The company seeks to manage its debt balances and interest rate risk

to reduce its overall cost of capital, balanced against the primary

goal of maintaining the strength, flexibility, and liquidity of Disney’s

balance sheet. As of November 30, 2001, the company’s net debt

balances were approximately $14.5 billion, including borrowings to

finance the acquisition of Fox Family Worldwide.

The strength of the company’s balance sheet reflects Disney’s 

position as a premier global media and entertainment company 

with diversified sources of revenue and cash flow, unique brand 

franchises and prudent financial policies. This strength, coupled with

the power of the Disney brand around the world, enables the company

to access the global capital markets on an opportunistic basis at

attractive borrowing rates. By carefully balancing its proportion of

fixed- versus floating-rate interest obligations, the company has also

enjoyed reduced debt service costs as a result of the reduction in

overall market interest rates over the past year. Management believes

that the company’s cash flow and earnings potential will contribute

to even greater financial strength and flexibility going forward.

V I .  I N V E S T O R  R E T U R N S

The Walt Disney Company is committed to maximizing the long-

term value of its brands, characters, programming franchises and

other assets, and has thereby provided strong investor returns 

over time. An investment of $1,000 in Disney stock made shortly

after Michael Eisner took office as chairman and CEO of the 

company in 1984, including reinvestment of dividends, was worth

$10,901 on November 30, 2001, representing a 15 percent compound

annual return over that period. Through careful stewardship of the

company’s unparalleled assets and a relentless focus on driving

future earnings and cash flow growth and increasing capital returns,

The Walt Disney Company is well positioned to deliver attractive

returns for decades to come.

$ 1 , 0 0 0  I N V E S T E D  I N  D I S N E Y  V S .  S & P  5 0 0
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B U E N A  V I S T A  M U S I C  G R O U P

Buena Vista Music Group is composed of Walt Disney Records,
Hollywood Records, Lyric Street Records, Mammoth Records and
Walt Disney Music Publishing.

Buena Vista Music Group’s mainstream pop label, Hollywood
Records, released the soundtrack to Paramount Pictures’ blockbuster
Save The Last Dance, featuring tracks from K-Ci & JoJo and Lucy
Pearl. The soundtrack achieved multi-platinum status. British pop
band BBMak’s debut album Sooner or Later, which was released
last year, continued to sell well, achieving sales nearing platinum sta-
tus. The Pearl Harbor soundtrack, featuring the hit song “There
You’ll Be” performed by Faith Hill, has sold in excess of 1 million
units worldwide. Other successful releases came from Nydia Rojas,
Tricky, Seven Mary Three, and The Wiseguys on Mammoth
Records. Hollywood Records also acquired the perpetual rights to
the coveted Queen catalog in the U.S. and Canada. In September, the
label released the soundtrack to Paramount Pictures’ Zoolander. 

Buena Vista Music Group’s country music label, Lyric Street
Records, launched hot newcomers Rascal Flatts this past year. They
were acclaimed Best New Group at the 2001 Academy of Country
Music Awards. Rascal Flatts’ self-titled debut achieved gold status.
In September, Aaron Tippin’s new Christmas album, A December To
Remember, was released.

Walt Disney Records released several successful soundtracks from
Walt Disney Pictures this year, including Remember The Titans, The
Princess Diaries, 102 Dalmatians and The Emperor’s New Groove.
In collaboration with Radio Disney, Volume 4 of the successful
Radio Disney Jams was released, bringing in more than 1 million
combined units for the series.

Buena Vista Music Group releases for 2002 are expected from coun-
try music stars SheDaisy, Aaron Tippin, the follow-up from BBMak,
Fu Manchu, Los Lobos, and soundtracks from The Country Bears
and Lilo & Stitch.

B U E N A  V I S T A  I N T E R N A T I O N A L

Buena Vista International (BVI) had another strong year, surpassing
$1 billion at the international box office for the seventh consecutive
year, a feat unmatched in industry history. BVI’s performance was
driven by five key films: Pearl Harbor, Unbreakable, 102
Dalmatians, Dinosaur and The Emperor’s New Groove.

Pearl Harbor earned more than $250 million at the international 
box office. It was the top film outside North America for summer
2001. In Japan, the film earned more than $56 million at the box
office, making it the second-most popular film ever released by BVI
in that nation. Germany’s results also were impressive, with almost
$27 million earned thus far. This places the film as the top U.S.
release of the summer in that market and the second-best performing
BVI live-action release of all time. In China, Pearl Harbor became
the second-most successful film in that nation’s history.

Another stellar performer overseas was Unbreakable, director 
M. Night Shyamalan’s follow-up to The Sixth Sense, which achieved
$154 million at the international box office. 102 Dalmatians also
registered impressive international results, posting $116 million at
the overseas box office. In addition, Dinosaur increased its cumula-
tive international tally to $216 million. Key to this performance was
its launch in Japan. The film earned $42 million during the winter
release season, making it the most successful U.S. animated film
ever released in that country.

B U E N A  V I S T A  H O M E  E N T E R T A I N M E N T  —

D O M E S T I C

Buena Vista Home Entertainment (BVHE) was one of the market lead-
ers in 2001, with Lady and the Tramp II: Scamp’s Adventure becoming
the number-one video premiere of the year. This animated sequel con-
tinued BVHE’s dominance in the direct-to-video marketplace. Eight of
the top 10 all-time direct-to-video releases are BVHE titles. 

Buena Vista Home Entertainment also enjoyed success on the live-
action side as the Commemorative 60th Anniversary Edition of Pearl
Harbor was released on December 4. The three-disc Vista Series Pearl
Harbor DVD will be released in summer 2002 and will feature the
director’s cut of the film and more than 12 hours of programming.
Remember The Titans, 102 Dalmatians and The Princess Diaries also
contributed to the performance of the live-action releases. As a result,
BVHE had some of the best-selling video titles of the year.

Buena Vista Home Entertainment leads the VHS business and contin-
ues to grow in the DVD market. BVHE’s DVD volume more than
doubled over the previous year. This market will continue to provide
growth opportunities as the DVD format becomes widely adopted.

The quality of BVHE’s DVD product was particularly evidenced by
the Toy Story: The Ultimate Toy Box DVD set, which won the coveted
Best of Show award and three other honors at the fourth annual DVD
awards ceremony, and also was named Best DVD Box Set of the Year
by Entertainment Weekly magazine.

Snow White and the Seven Dwarfs, the first title of the Platinum
Series, debuted on Disney DVD in October. Featuring the industry’s
first “immersive” DVD interactive entertainment experience, the
movie that defined animation is now redefining DVD.

BVHE’s leadership in DVD extended to the live-action genre as well,
as it launched the Vista DVD Series, a collection of premium titles
developed in collaboration with creators of releases from The Walt
Disney Studios. Using premium audio and visual quality and extensive
bonus programming, the Vista Series leverages the DVD format to
deliver the definitive presentation of the filmmakers’ cinematic vision.

More outstanding titles to look forward to include Disney/Pixar’s
Monsters, Inc.; The Hunchback of Notre Dame II; Cinderella II:
Dreams Come True; Atlantis: The Lost Empire; Peter Pan II: 
Return to Never Land; and Vista Series editions of Tombstone
and The Sixth Sense.

B U E N A  V I S T A  H O M E  E N T E R T A I N M E N T

I N T E R N A T I O N A L

For the sixth consecutive year, Buena Vista Home Entertainment
International (BVHEI) achieved sales of $1 billion or more and has
continued to hold its number-one position among all international
distributors.

Driving this growth is the performance of BVHEI’s animated titles
Dinosaur and Toy Story 2 and the live action film Gone in 60 Seconds,
which were among the division’s largest-selling titles of the year.

Another achievement was BVHEI’s success with Disney’s direct-to-
video product line. Lady and the Tramp II: Scamp’s Adventure and The
Little Mermaid II: Return to the Sea became BVHEI’s number-three
and number-four selling titles for the year, just behind Toy Story 2
and Dinosaur.

Continuing to capitalize on the growing base of DVD households
internationally in 2001, BVHEI’s DVD unit sales grew 67 percent
over fiscal year 2000. In addition, BVHEI was presented with two
honors at the DVD Europa Awards. Dinosaur was recognized for the
most imaginative application of the DVD format for use on a con-
sumer DVD player, and Toy Story: The Ultimate Toy Box won acclaim
for the most creative DVD packaging. Since the advent of the DVD
format, BVHEI has sold more than 200 titles.
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A B C  R A D I O

As owner of 53 local radio stations, ABC Radio Group reaches 
15 million listeners on a weekly basis. In addition, ABC Radio
Networks provide programming to more than 4,600 affiliated sta-
tions and reach 126 million people weekly, with three full-service
news networks, ESPN Radio, Paul Harvey News and Comment and
Paul Harvey’s The Rest of the Story, The Tom Joyner Morning Show,
The Doug Banks Morning Show, American Country Countdown with
Bob Kingsley, 12 ABC Radio 24-hour music formats, ABC Sports,
and music and talk programming.

ABC Radio also includes Radio Disney, which is available in 48
markets, representing 54 percent of the country. About 2.5 million
children ages 6-14 and 1.4 million moms tuned to Radio Disney 
on a weekly basis in 2001. Children’s ratings rose 60 percent and
moms’ ratings soared 200 percent over the previous year. In May,
Radio Disney launched its first non-English Radio Disney station
outside the U.S., in Buenos Aires. Further expansion is planned 
over the next few years in South America, Mexico, Central America,
Europe and Asia.

In November, ABC Radio announced a partnership to create the
largest radio network reaching the African-American marketplace.
Joined by affiliates from Radio One, the largest owner and operator
of urban radio stations, ABC Radio Networks’ Urban Advantage
Network will be available to more than 93 percent of African-
American consumers. 

W E B  S I T E S

ABC.com is the number-one broadcast news Web site.
ABCNEWS.com maintains its position as the number-one broad-
cast news Web site, with innovative approaches to breaking news
and expanded content distribution. Disney.com is the number-one
kids entertainment site on the Web. In partnership with eBay, Disney
Auctions, ABC Auctions and ESPN Auctions together sold more
than 53,000 authentic Disney collectibles in their first year.
Family.com, with its award-winning content, is designed to appeal to
the rapidly growing number of women online. There are 19 local
language Disney sites outside the U.S. Each provides a focus for
country-specific Disney initiatives and acts as a local language
resource. Disney, ESPN and ABC branded content is available on
wireless devices through alliances with leading operators and service
providers.

B U E N A  V I S T A  T E L E V I S I O N

Buena Vista Television continues to provide syndicated television
programming to audiences nationwide. Live! with Regis and Kelly
paves the way, with Regis Philbin joined by co-host Kelly Ripa. 

Buena Vista Television launched its newest talk show, Iyanla. Hosted
by best-selling author and nationally recognized speaker Iyanla
Vanzant, Iyanla is a one-hour, single-topic show. 

Who Wants to Be a Millionaire, the high-energy game show that
penetrated American pop culture more than two years ago, debuts in
syndication in fall 2002 in a first-run, half-hour format.

Buena Vista Television has a major presence in the pay TV, pay-per-
view, cable and network television arena, capitalizing on the strength
of the Disney collection of films. The Buena Vista 6 movie package,
which features 54 titles, kicked off this year with box-office hits
such as The Sixth Sense, Armageddon, Deuce Bigalow: Male Gigolo
and Shakespeare in Love. Imagination 6 was released in 2001 featur-
ing a host of beloved family titles, including Alice in Wonderland,
The Parent Trap and Inspector Gadget.

Syndication veteran Ebert & Roeper enjoys more than two decades
as the pre-eminent movie review program.

Win Ben Stein’s Money completes its fourth season on Comedy
Central with super-intellect Stein at the helm.

Buena Vista Television’s two-hour animation block airs on UPN 
and in syndication. Disney’s The Legend of Tarzan and Disney’s 
The Weekenders join the slate of animated favorites that includes
Disney/Pixar’s Buzz Lightyear of Star Command, Disney’s Recess
and Sabrina, The Animated Series.

New division Buena Vista Productions enters its second year, 
providing development and programming for syndication, cable 
and daytime.

W A L T  D I S N E Y  T E L E V I S I O N  I N T E R N A T I O N A L

Walt Disney Television International (WDTV-I) reaffirmed its position
as a worldwide leader in television entertainment in 2001, fueled by
strong performances from its distribution division.

WDTV-I signed major new distribution agreements in key territories,
including the U.K., Canada, South Africa and Russia. For the first
time, WDTV-I has sold selected animated titles, including Toy Story
and Mulan, to terrestrial broadcasters such as the BBC. WDTV-I
now distributes almost 5,000 hours of programming, including films
such as Pearl Harbor and live-action series, including Scrubs and
Alias, to 120 countries around the world.

WDTV-I continues to provide Disney-branded and non-branded pro-
gramming to a large free TV audience. This includes 95 regularly
scheduled, Disney-branded shows, which now air in 51 countries.
Branded TV content on free and pay television is now enhanced by
innovative Web sites.

The original production slate includes the highly successful Art
Attack, produced in eight languages. Another original is La Liga,
a fantasy soccer show that broadcasts in Germany and Spain.

WDTV-I also oversees an equity investment portfolio, which
includes Super RTL in Germany, GMTV in the U.K., the HBO serv-
ices in Central Europe and Latin America, and CineNova in Holland.

A B C  C A B L E  N E T W O R K S  G R O U P

ABC Cable Networks Group develops and manages worldwide cable
television programming and leverages creative assets across The
Walt Disney Company. In the U.S., ABC Cable Networks Group
operates ESPN, Disney Channel, Toon Disney and SoapNet, and
manages the company’s interests in Lifetime Entertainment Services,
A&E Television Networks and E! Entertainment Television.

ABC Cable Networks Group oversees all 12 Disney Channel
Worldwide networks, reaching more than 15 million subscribers in
56 territories in Europe, Latin America and Asia Pacific. ABC Cable
Networks Group also is responsible for nearly 100 Disney-branded
blocks of programming in 51 countries reaching 600 million televi-
sion viewers worldwide.

In October, the company completed its acquisition of Fox Family
Worldwide, Inc. The purchase included Fox Family Channel, which
was renamed ABC Family and relaunched as a new family-oriented
service in the U.S.; a 76 percent interest in Fox Kids Europe, as well
as the Fox Kids channels in Latin America, both of which will ulti-
mately be re-branded; and the Saban Library and Entertainment
Productions business. This acquisition will dramatically increase the
reach of the company’s family television entertainment to house-
holds throughout North America, Europe and Latin America.

E S P N

In 2001, ESPN further extended its reach and services to sports fans
through continued growth of its domestic networks; international
ESPN-branded initiatives; technology applications in the interactive,
broadband, wireless and television production arenas; and new 
programming genres.

The flagship network ESPN remains the most widely distributed
sports network, with nearly 85 million homes. ESPN2 passed the 81
million homes mark faster than any other cable network in history.

        























49

The Walt Disney Company and Subsidiaries

C O N S O L I D A T E D  R E S U L T S

As-Reported  Resu l ts  o f  Operat ions

(in millions, except per share data) 2001 2000 1999

Revenues $ 25,269 $ 25,418 $ 23,455
Costs and expenses (21,670) (21,660) (20,030)
Amortization of intangible assets (767) (1,233) (456)
Gain on sale of businesses 22 489 345
Net interest expense and other (417) (497) (612)
Equity in the income of investees 300 208 (127)
Restructuring and impairment charges (1,454) (92) (172)

Income before income taxes, minority interests and the cumulative effect of accounting changes 1,283 2,633 2,403
Income taxes (1,059) (1,606) (1,014)
Minority interests (104) (107) (89)

Income before the cumulative effect of accounting changes 120 920 1,300
Cumulative effect of accounting changes:

Film accounting (228) — —
Derivative accounting (50) — —

Net (loss) income $ (158) $ 920 $ 1,300

Earnings (loss) attributed to:
Disney Common Stock(1) $ (41) $ 1,196 $ 1,300
Internet Group Common Stock (117) (276) —

$ (158) $ 920 $ 1,300

Earnings (loss) per share before the cumulative effect of accounting changes attributed to:
Disney Common Stock:

Diluted $ 0.11 $ 0.57 $ 0.62

Basic $ 0.11 $ 0.58 $ 0.63

Internet Group Common Stock (basic and diluted) $ (2.72) $ (6.18) n/a

Cumulative effect of accounting changes per Disney share:
Film Accounting $ (0.11) $ — $ —
Derivative Accounting (0.02) — —

$ (0.13) $ — $ —

Earnings (loss) per share attributed to:
Disney Common Stock:(1)

Diluted $ (0.02) $ 0.57 $ 0.62

Basic $ (0.02) $ 0.58 $ 0.63

Internet Group Common Stock (basic and diluted) $ (2.72) $ (6.18) n/a

Average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding:
Disney Common Stock:

Diluted 2,100 2,103 2,083

Basic 2,085 2,074 2,056

Internet Group Common Stock (basic and diluted) 43 45 n/a

(1)Including Disney’s retained interest in the Internet Group. Disney’s as-reported retained interest in the Internet Group reflects 100% of Internet Group losses through
November 17, 1999, approximately 72% for the period from November 18, 1999 through January 28, 2001 (the last date prior to the announcement of the conversion
of the Internet Group common stock) and 100% thereafter.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A L Y S I S  O F  
F I N A N C I A L  C O N D I T I O N  A N D  R E S U L T S  O F  O P E R A T I O N S
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  R E S U L T S

2001 vs. 2000 As-reported net loss was $158 million compared to
net income of $920 million in the prior year. Net loss and loss per
share attributed to Disney common stock were $41 million and $0.02,
respectively, compared to net income and earnings per share attributed
to Disney common stock of $1.2 billion and $0.57, respectively, in the
prior year. The current year as-reported net loss includes charges from
the cumulative effect of accounting changes ($278 million or $0.13
per Disney share) and restructuring and impairment charges ($1.45 bil-
lion or $0.52 per Disney share). As-reported results also include pre-
tax gains on the sale of Infoseek Japan K.K. ($22 million) in 2001,
and Fairchild Publications ($243 million), Ultraseek Corporation ($153
million) and Eurosport ($93 million) in 2000. Excluding the charges
and gains mentioned above, earnings per share attributed to Disney
common stock was $0.63 and $0.56 for the current and prior year,
respectively. Results for the year also reflected lower amortization of
intangible assets and net interest expense and other and higher equity
in the income of investees, partially offset by decreased segment oper-
ating income and higher corporate and unallocated shared expenses.
Lower amortization of intangible assets reflected the write-off of
intangible assets associated with the closure of the GO.com portal
business in the second quarter of the current year, certain intangible
assets becoming fully amortized in the first quarter and a reduction in
intangible assets related to the sale of Fairchild Publications,
Ultraseek and Eurosport in fiscal 2000. Decreases in net interest
expense and other were driven by gains on the sale of certain invest-
ments, lower interest rates and lower average debt balances through-
out most of the year. Higher equity in the income of investees
reflected improved results from cable equity investments including
Lifetime Television, The History Channel and A&E Television and
certain international cable equity investments, partially offset by start-
up losses incurred in connection with new investments. Decreased
segment operating income reflected lower Media Networks and Parks
& Resorts results, partially offset by improvements at Studio Enter-
tainment and Consumer Products. Increased corporate and unallocated
shared expenses were driven by costs associated with several strategic
initiatives designed to improve overall company-wide efficiency and
promote the Disney brand. 

On October 24, 2001, the company acquired Fox Family
Worldwide, Inc. (“FFW”) for $5.2 billion, including $2.9 billion in
cash, plus the assumption of $2.3 billion in debt (see Note 15 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

The company anticipates that the income statement for 2002 will
include the impact of FFW merger-related and integration expenses;
amortization of intangible assets, to the extent identified, valued 
and deemed to have determinable lives as part of the purchase price
allocation; increased interest expense from the financing of the
acquisition and increased revenues and expenses from the acquired
operations.

The balance sheet impact of the acquisition is expected to reflect
FFW’s historical carrying amounts, excluding the Fox Kid’s Network,
modified by purchase accounting adjustments to reflect the difference
between FFW’s historical carrying amounts and fair value; significant
additional intangible assets, including goodwill; additional assets and
liabilities that reflect the fair value of contingencies, executory con-
tracts and other commitments, and increased debt from funding for
the purchase.

2000 vs. 1999 As-reported earnings and earnings per share attrib-
uted to Disney common stock decreased 8% to $1.2 billion and $0.57,
respectively, driven by higher amortization of intangible assets and
income taxes, partially offset by increased segment operating income
and equity in the income of investees and lower net interest expense
and other. Increased amortization of intangible assets resulted from
intangible assets associated with the acquisition of Infoseek Corpora-
tion (Infoseek). Higher segment operating income was driven by
growth at Media Networks and Parks & Resorts, partially offset by
decreases in the other segments. Equity in the income of investees
increased due to higher Infoseek equity losses in fiscal 1999 as well 
as improved results from the company’s cable equity investments. 
Net interest expense and other decreased due to lower average debt
balances, partially offset by higher interest rates in fiscal 2000. Lower
average debt balances reflected increased cash flow.

Fiscal 2000 includes lower restructuring and impairment charges,
discussed more fully below, and higher gain on the sale of businesses.
The increase in the gain on sale of businesses reflects gains on the
sale of Fairchild, Ultraseek and Eurosport totaling $243 million, $153
million and $93 million, respectively, in fiscal 2000 as compared to
the gain on the sale of Starwave totaling $345 million in fiscal 1999.
As-reported net income including restructuring and impairment
charges and gain on the sale of business was $920 million, including 
a loss of $276 million attributed to the Internet Group. As-reported
earnings attributed to Disney common stock were $1.2 billion or
$0.57 per share in fiscal 2000 versus $1.3 billion or $0.62 per share 
in fiscal 1999.

R E S T R U C T U R I N G  A N D  I M P A I R M E N T

C H A R G E S

The company recorded restructuring and impairment charges for 
the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 summarized 
as follows:

Year Ended September 30,

(in millions) 2001 2000 1999

GO.com intangible assets 
impairment $ 820 $— $ —

GO.com severance, fixed asset 
write-offs and other 58 — —

Investment impairments 254 61 —
Workforce reduction and other 111 — 132
Chicago DisneyQuest closure 94 — —
Asset impairment 63 31 40
Disney Store closures 54 — —

Total restructuring and 
impairment charges $1,454 $92 $172

In 2001, the company recorded restructuring and impairment
charges totaling $1.45 billion. The GO.com charge is for the closure
of the GO.com portal business and includes a non-cash write-off of
intangible assets totaling $820 million (see Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements). The investment impairment charge is for other-
than-temporary declines in the fair value of certain Internet invest-
ments. The workforce reduction charges are primarily for severance
costs and are discussed more fully below. The DisneyQuest and Disney
Store closure charges are for the closure of the Chicago DisneyQuest
facility and approximately 100 Disney Stores and includes the write-
down of fixed assets and leasehold improvements, leasehold term-
ination costs, severance and other related closure costs. The asset
impairment charge is for certain long-lived assets, primarily at the
Disney Store and Disney Catalog. These assets were evaluated for
impairment under a held for use model due to declining cash flows.
Fair value was generally determined based on discounted cash flows.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2001, the company initiated a
plan to eliminate 4,000 full-time jobs through a combination of volun-
tary and involuntary reductions. The reduction affected employees in
all business units and geographic regions. The $111 million of costs
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associated with the workforce reduction consist primarily of sever-
ance costs and write-offs of idled facilities. As of September 30, 2001,
the company had substantially completed its workforce reduction and
paid termination benefits totaling $92 million. 

As of September 30, 2001, approximately $118 million of the
restructuring and impairment charges remained as an accrued liability
on the balance sheet, of which $19 million related to the workforce
reduction and $21 million is from prior-year restructuring charges.
The majority of this amount is expected to be paid in fiscal 2002.

In 2000, impairment charges amounted to $92 million, primarily
related to write-downs of certain Internet investments and an 
asset impairment write-down at toysmart.com in connection with 
its closure. 

In 1999, the company recorded restructuring and impairment
charges totaling $172 million. The charges included $132 million for
severance and other charges and $40 million related to long-lived
asset impairments. The restructuring charges included severance and
lease and other contract cancellation costs, primarily related to the
consolidation of operations in the company’s broadcasting, television
production and regional entertainment businesses as well as non-cash
charges for write-downs of underutilized assets.

F I S C A L  2 0 0 2  O U T L O O K

The company expects that the events of September 11th and their
aftermath coupled with the already soft economy will continue to
influence its operating results into fiscal 2002. This impact is likely to
be most significant in certain of the Media Networks operations and
Parks & Resorts. The Media Networks advertising-supported busi-
nesses, such as the television and radio network and stations, are
expected to have declines in revenues due to the soft advertising mar-
ketplace, continued ratings decreases and a potential increase in news
preemptions and higher news production costs. In Cable, the slow
economy and a surplus of inventory are resulting in downward pres-
sure on advertising rates. Parks & Resorts operations are likely to be
affected by the downturn in leisure travel and lower consumer confi-
dence especially as compared to the record setting first quarter the
segment achieved in the prior year. To date, Walt Disney World atten-
dance is down roughly 25% versus the first quarter of last year. We
expect hotel occupancy to be down by approximately 20 and 15 per-
centage points for Walt Disney World and Disneyland, respectively,
compared to the first quarter of last year. Additionally, the company
expects that soft retail sales and weak consumer confidence are likely
to affect its Consumer Products business. 

As such, the company believes that its operating income in the
first quarter of fiscal 2002 could be somewhat less than half that of
the strong first quarter results of the prior year. The company expects
that the first quarter will represent the most difficult year-over-year
comparison. While the future is uncertain, the company should experi-
ence an improved business climate in the last three fiscal quarters of
2002, with operating income declines of as much as 10 to 15 percent
for those later three periods combined versus the prior year.

The company is taking a variety of measures to mitigate these
impacts, including a planned reduction of fiscal 2002 capital expendi-
tures. In the Parks & Resorts businesses, mitigation efforts include
reducing man-hours, closing non-essential food and beverage loca-
tions, instituting a hiring freeze and delaying non-essential refurbish-
ments. In Media Networks, all businesses are undertaking aggressive
cost reduction initiatives.
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In November 1999, the company sold Fairchild Publications which it had acquired in connection with the ABC acquisition in 1996. In November
1998, the company acquired a 43% interest in Infoseek, a publicly traded Internet search company and then in November 1999 acquired the remain-
ing 57% of Infoseek, launched GO.com and created the Disney Internet Group tracking stock. On March 20, 2001, the company converted its
Internet Group Common Stock into Disney Common Stock and closed the GO.com portal business. To enhance comparability, the unaudited pro
forma information that follows presents consolidated results of operations as if the Fairchild disposition, the completion of the Infoseek acquisition,
the conversion of the Internet Group common stock, the closure of the GO.com portal business and the adoption of SOP 00-2 (see Notes 1 and 2 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements) had occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2000, eliminating the one-time impact of those events. The unau-
dited pro forma information is not necessarily reflective of the results of operations had these events actually occurred at the beginning of fiscal
2000, nor is it necessarily indicative of future results.

Management believes that pro forma operating results provide additional information useful in analyzing the underlying business results.
However, pro forma operating results should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, as-reported results of operations.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  R E S U L T S

Pro Forma Resu l ts  o f  Operat ions

(unaudited; in millions, except per share data) 2001 2000 % Change

Revenues $ 25,256 $ 25,356 —
Costs and expenses (21,624) (21,584) —
Amortization of intangible assets (586) (633) 7%
Gain on sale of businesses (1) 22 246 (91%)
Net interest expense and other (417) (493) 15%
Equity in the income of investees 300 249 20%
Restructuring and impairment charges (576) (92) n/m

Income before income taxes, minority interests and the cumulative effect of accounting changes 2,375 3,049 (22%)
Income taxes (1,114) (1,402) 21%
Minority interests (104) (107) 3%

Income before the cumulative effect of accounting changes 1,157 1,540 (25%)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes:

Film accounting (228) —
Derivative accounting (50) —

Net income $ 879 $ 1,540 (43%)

Earnings per share before the cumulative effect of accounting changes:
Diluted $ 0.55 $ 0.73 (25%)

Basic $ 0.55 $ 0.74

Earnings per share including the cumulative effect of accounting changes: 
Diluted $ 0.42 $ 0.73 (42%)

Basic $ 0.42 $ 0.74

Earnings before the cumulative effect of accounting changes, excluding restructuring and 
impairment charges and  gain on the sale of businesses $ 1,525 $ 1,518 —

Earnings per share before the cumulative effect of accounting changes, excluding restructuring and 
impairment charges and gain on the sale of businesses:

Diluted $ 0.72 $ 0.72 —

Basic $ 0.73 $ 0.73 —

Average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding:
Diluted 2,104 2,111

Basic 2,089 2,082

(1)Includes the gain on sale of Infoseek Japan K.K. in 2001 and the gain on the sales of Ultraseek Corporation and Eurosport 
($153 million and $93 million, respectively) in 2000.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of as-reported
income (loss) per share attributed to Disney common stock to pro
forma earnings per share before the cumulative effect of accounting
changes, excluding restructuring and impairment charges and gains on
the sale of businesses.

Year Ended
September 30,

(unaudited) 2001 2000

As-reported (loss) income per share attributed 
to Disney common stock $(0.02) $ 0.57

Adjustment to attribute 100% of Internet Group
operating results to Disney common stock
(72% included in as-reported amounts 
for the period from November 18, 1999 
through January 28, 2001) (0.06) (0.13)

Adjustment to exclude pre-closure GO.com
portal operating results and amortization
of intangible assets 0.09 0.35

Adjustment to exclude GO.com restructuring
and impairment charges 0.41 —

Adjustment to include a pre-acquisition 
Infoseek operating results — (0.04)

Adjustment to exclude the cumulative effect
of accounting changes 0.13 —

Adjustment to reflect the impact of the new
Film Accounting rules — (0.02)

Pro forma earnings per share before the
cumulative effect of accounting changes 0.55 0.73

Adjustment to exclude restructuring and 
impairment charges 0.17 0.03

Adjustment to exclude gains on the sale
of businesses — (0.04)

Pro forma earnings per share before the 
cumulative effect of accounting changes, 
excluding restructuring and impairment 
charges and gain on the sale of businesses $ 0.72 $ 0.72

2001 vs. 2000 On a pro forma basis, net income and earnings per
share before the cumulative effect of accounting changes, excluding
restructuring and impairment charges and gain on the sale of busi-
nesses remained flat at $1.5 billion and $0.72, respectively. Pro forma
results for the current and prior periods have been adjusted to reflect
the disposition of Fairchild Publications, the acquisition of Infoseek,
the conversion of the Internet Group common stock into Disney com-
mon stock, the closure of the GO.com portal business and the adop-
tion of the new film accounting rules as if these transactions occurred
at the beginning of fiscal 2000, excluding the one-time impacts of
these events. On a pro forma basis, restructuring and impairment
charges exclude the impact of the GO.com portal closure of 
$878 million. 

Including the restructuring and impairment charges, gains on sale
of businesses and the cumulative effect of accounting changes, pro
forma net income and earnings per share decreased 43% and 42% to
$879 million and $0.42 per share, respectively. 
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The company has changed the reporting structure of the various components of its Internet operations and as a result, the Internet Group will no
longer be reported as a separate segment. The ESPN, ABC, Disney and family-branded Internet Web sites will be reported in the Media Networks
segment and DisneyVacations.com will be reported in the Parks & Resorts segment. Also during the year, the Disney Store Catalog and the Disney
Store Online were reassigned from the Internet Group to Consumer Products. These changes have been reflected in the fiscal 2001 financial state-
ments and prior-year amounts have been reclassified to reflect the current-year presentation.

Pro Forma (unaudited) As Reported

(in millions) 2001 2000 % Change 2001 2000 1999

Revenues: 
Media Networks $ 9,556 $ 9,788 (2%) $ 9,569 $ 9,836 $ 8,012
Parks & Resorts 7,004 6,809 3% 7,004 6,809 6,141
Studio Entertainment 6,106 6,011 2% 6,106 6,011 6,176
Consumer Products 2,590 2,748 (6%) 2,590 2,762 3,126

$25,256 $25,356 — $25,269 $25,418 $23,455

Segment operating income:(1)

Media Networks $ 1,791 $ 2,048 (13%) $ 1,758 $ 1,985 $ 1,512
Parks & Resorts 1,586 1,615 (2%) 1,586 1,615 1,494
Studio Entertainment 260 76 n/m 260 126 162
Consumer Products 401 385 4% 401 386 592

$ 4,038 $ 4,124 (2%) $ 4,005 $ 4,112 $ 3,760

The company evaluates the performance of its operating segments based on segment operating income. A reconciliation of segment operating
income to income before income taxes, minority interests and the cumulative effect of accounting changes is as follows:

Pro Forma (unaudited) As Reported

(in millions) 2001 2000 2001 2000 1999

Segment operating income $4,038 $4,124 $ 4,005 $ 4,112 $3,760
Corporate and unallocated shared expenses (406) (352) (406) (354) (335)
Amortization of intangible assets (586) (633) (767) (1,233) (456)
Gain on sale of businesses 22 246 22 489 345
Net interest expense and other (417) (493) (417) (497) (612)
Equity in the income of investees 300 249 300 208 (127)
Restructuring and impairment charges (576) (92) (1,454) (92) (172)

Income before income taxes, minority interests and the cumulative effect of 
accounting changes $2,375 $3,049 $ 1,283 $ 2,633 $2,403

(1)Segment earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) is as follows:

Pro Forma (unaudited) As Reported

(in millions) 2001 2000 2001 2000 1999

Media Networks $1,964 $2,197 $1,934 $2,154 $1,647
Parks & Resorts 2,190 2,197 2,190 2,197 1,992
Studio Entertainment 307 130 307 180 226
Consumer Products 491 494 491 495 720

$4,952 $5,018 $4,922 $5,026 $4,585

Management believes that segment EBITDA provides additional information useful in analyzing the underlying business results. However, seg-
ment EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial metric and should be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, reported segment operating income.

        



55

The Walt Disney Company and Subsidiaries

Media  Networks  

The following table provides supplemental revenue and segment oper-
ating income detail for the Media Networks segment.

As
Pro Forma (unaudited) Reported

(in millions) 2001 2000 1999

Revenues:
Broadcasting $5,713 $6,279 $5,139
Cable Networks 3,843 3,509 2,873

$9,556 $9,788 $8,012

Segment operating income:
Broadcasting $ 728 $1,033 $ 571
Cable Networks 1,063 1,015 941

$1,791 $2,048 $1,512

2001 vs. 2000 Revenues decreased 2%, or $232 million, to $9.6
billion, driven by decreases of $566 million at Broadcasting, partially
offset by increases of $334 million at the Cable Networks. The
decrease at Broadcasting was driven by lower ratings and the soft
advertising market at the ABC television network and the company’s
owned television stations and radio operations. Additionally, revenue
declines at the television network reflected lower sports advertising
revenues due to ABC airing the Super Bowl in the prior year. The
increase at the Cable Networks was driven by annual contractual rate
adjustments at ESPN combined with subscriber growth at ESPN, the
Disney Channel domestically and internationally, partially offset by
the soft advertising market during the year. Subscriber growth at 
the Disney Channel reflected increasing satellite (DBS) and digital
subscribers and the continuing conversion of the Disney Channel
from a premium to a basic service. 

Segment operating income decreased 13%, or $257 million, to
$1.8 billion, driven by a decrease of $305 million at Broadcasting
resulting primarily from decreased revenues and higher programming
costs, partially offset by an increase of $48 million at the Cable
Networks, driven by revenue growth. Costs and expenses, which
consist primarily of programming rights and amortization, production
costs, distribution and selling expenses and labor costs, remained flat
for the year, but increased as a percentage of revenue. The company
experienced higher programming costs at ESPN, the primetime ABC
television network and the company’s owned television stations 
and radio operations and start-up costs at the international Disney
Channels, offset by lower sports programming costs at the ABC tele-
vision network due to higher costs for the Super Bowl and two addi-
tional National Football League (NFL) regular season games in the
prior year and lower costs at the Internet Group due to the closure of
toysmart.com in the prior year and cost saving initiatives.

The company has various contractual commitments for the pur-
chase of broadcast rights for sports and other programming including
the NFL, Major League Baseball (MLB) and the National Hockey
League (NHL). The costs of these contracts have increased signifi-
cantly in recent years. The company has implemented a variety of
strategies, including marketing efforts, to reduce the impact of the
higher costs. The impact of these contracts on the company’s results
over the remaining term of the contracts is dependent upon a number
of factors, including the strength of advertising markets, effectiveness
of marketing efforts and the size of viewer audiences.

The costs of these contracts are charged to expense based on the
ratio of each period’s gross revenues to estimated total gross revenues
over the remaining contract period. Estimates of total gross revenues
can change significantly and, accordingly, they are reviewed periodi-
cally and amortization and carrying amounts are adjusted, if neces-
sary. Such adjustments could have a material effect on results of
operations in future periods.

The company has investments in cable operations that are
accounted for as unconsolidated equity investments. The table 
below presents operating income from cable television activities,
which comprise the Cable Networks and the company’s cable 
equity investments.

Pro Forma

(unaudited, in millions) 2001 2000 % Change

Operating Income:
Cable Networks $1,063 $1,015 5%
Equity Investments:

A&E Television and 
Lifetime Television 693 614 13%

Other(1) 178 211 (16%)

Operating Income from Cable 
Television Activities 1,934 1,840 5%

Partner Share of Operating Income (705) (639) (10%)

Disney Share of Operating Income(1) $1,229 $1,201 2%

Note: Operating income from cable television activities presented in this 
table represents 100% of both the company’s owned cable businesses and its
cable equity investees. The Disney share of operating income represents the
company’s ownership interest in cable television operating income. Cable
Networks are reported in “Segment operating income” in the statements of
income. Equity investments are reported in “Equity in the income of investees”
in the statements of income.

(1)Amounts include the gain on the sale of Eurosport in fiscal 2000. Excluding
Disney’s share of the gain, cable television operating income for the year ended
September 30, 2000 was $1,126 million. 

We believe that operating income from cable television activities
provides additional information useful in analyzing the underlying
business results. However, operating income from cable television
activities is a non-GAAP financial metric and should be considered 
in addition to, not as a substitute for, segment operating income.

The company’s share of cable television operating income
increased 2%, or $28 million, to $1.2 billion. Excluding the prior-year
gain on Eurosport, the company’s share of cable television operating
income increased 9%, reflecting higher affiliate revenues at the cable
networks driven by annual contractual rate adjustments and strong
subscriber growth, including the conversion of the Disney Channel
from a premium to a basic service, and profit increases from cable
equity investments, partially offset by higher programming costs and
the soft advertising market at the cable network. 

2000 vs. 1999 Revenues increased 23%, or $1.8 billion, to $9.8
billion, driven by increases of $1.2 billion at Broadcasting and $636
million at the Cable Networks. Broadcasting revenue growth reflected
increased advertising revenues at the television networks and the
company’s owned television stations due to a strong advertising
market, the continued success of Who Wants to Be a Millionaire and
higher overall ratings on network programming. Television station
revenue growth also benefited from higher spot advertising rates
driven by the ABC Television Network placing first in the May and
February sweeps. Additionally, the strong advertising market resulted
in revenue growth at the radio networks and stations. Revenue 
growth also reflected higher advertising and sponsorship revenues at
the Internet Group, as well as the operations of Infoseek, which were
consolidated into the Internet Group beginning November 1999.
Cable Network revenue growth reflected increased advertising
revenues driven by a strong advertising market and higher affiliate
fees reflecting contractual rate increases and subscriber growth.
International expansion at the Disney Channel also contributed to
increased revenues.
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Segment operating income increased 31%, or $473 million, to
$2.0 billion, driven by increases of $399 million at Broadcasting and
$74 million at the Cable Networks, resulting from revenue growth at
both Broadcasting and Cable Networks, partially offset by increased
costs and expenses. Costs and expenses, which consist primarily of
programming rights and amortization, production costs, distribution
and selling expenses and labor costs, increased 21%, or $1.4 billion,
driven by higher sports programming costs at the television and cable
networks, principally related to NFL, MLB and NHL broadcasts. In
addition, higher costs and expenses reflected start-up costs associated
with the launch of various international Disney Channels and the
January launch of SoapNet. Costs and expenses of the Internet Group
also increased due to Website development expenses, growth in the
infrastructure due to the expansion of the business, the operations of
toysmart.com and the operations of Infoseek. 

Parks  & Resor ts  

2001 vs. 2000 Revenues increased 3%, or $195 million, to $7.0
billion, driven primarily by growth of $278 million at the Disneyland
Resort, $44 million from Disney Cruise Line and $20 million in
higher royalties from Tokyo Disneyland, partially offset by a decrease
of $187 million at the Walt Disney World Resort. At the Disneyland
Resort, the opening of Disney’s California Adventure, Downtown
Disney and Disney’s Grand Californian Hotel during the second quar-
ter drove increased attendance, higher occupied room nights and
increased guest spending. Disney Cruise Line’s results reflected the
strength of the 7-day cruise package that was introduced in the fourth
quarter of the prior year. At Walt Disney World, decreased revenues
were driven by decreased attendance and lower occupied room nights
reflecting the prior year success of the Millennium Celebration,
partially offset by increased guest spending. Both the Disneyland
Resort and Walt Disney World Resort were impacted by park closures
on September 11th and from lower attendance and hotel occupancy
due to cancellations and reduced travel during the last three weeks 
of September.

Segment operating income decreased 2%, or $29 million, to $1.6
billion, driven by increased costs at the Disneyland Resort, partially
offset by revenue growth at Disneyland, continued growth at Disney
Cruise Line and ongoing productivity improvements and cost 
reduction initiatives at Walt Disney World. Costs and expenses, 
which consist principally of labor, costs of merchandise, food and
beverages sold, depreciation, repairs and maintenance, entertainment
and marketing and sales expense, increased 4% or $224 million. 
Higher costs at the Disneyland Resort were due to the opening of 
Disney’s California Adventure, Downtown Disney and Disney’s
Grand Californian Hotel. 

2000 vs. 1999 Revenues increased 11%, or $668 million, to $6.8
billion, driven by growth of $383 million at the Walt Disney World
Resort, reflecting increased guest spending, record attendance and
record occupied room nights; $129 million from Disney Cruise Line,
reflecting full-year operations from both cruise ships, the Disney
Magic and the Disney Wonder, compared to just the Disney Magic for
the first three and a half quarters of the prior year; and $35 million
from increased attendance and guest spending at Disneyland.
Increased guest spending and record attendance at the Walt Disney
World Resort were driven by the ongoing Millennium Celebration and
record occupied room nights reflected the opening of the All-Star
Movies Resort in the second quarter of the prior year. At Disneyland,
the 45th Anniversary Celebration and the strength of the annual pass-
port program drove increased attendance and guest spending. 

Segment operating income increased 8%, or $121 million, to $1.6
billion, driven by revenue growth at the Walt Disney World Resort,
improved results at Disney Cruise Line and higher guest spending 
and attendance at Disneyland, partially offset by increased costs and
expenses. Costs and expenses, which consist principally of labor,
costs of merchandise, food and beverages sold, depreciation, repairs
and maintenance, entertainment and marketing and sales expenses,
increased 12%, or $547 million, driven by increased volume at the
Walt Disney World Resort resulting from the ongoing Millennium

Celebration, expanded operations at Disney Cruise Line as a result of
the addition of the second ship and increased volume at Disneyland
due to the 45th Anniversary Celebration, as well as pre-opening costs
at Disney’s California Adventure.

Stud io  Enter ta inment

2001 vs. 2000 Revenues increased 2%, or $95 million, to $6.1 bil-
lion, driven by growth of $316 million in worldwide home video and
$126 million in stage plays, partially offset by a decline of $306 mil-
lion in worldwide theatrical motion picture distribution. Improve-
ments in worldwide home video revenues reflected strong DVD and
VHS performance driven by successful animated titles including
Disney/Pixar’s Toy Story 2, Dinosaurs, The Emperor’s New Groove
and Lady & the Tramp II and stronger performing live-action titles
including Spy Kids, Scary Movie, Gone in 60 Seconds and Remember
the Titans. Growth in stage plays reflected performances of The Lion
King in additional cities and improved performance of Aida. In world-
wide theatrical motion picture distribution, the success of Pearl
Harbor, Spy Kids and Princess Diaries faced difficult comparisons to
prior year titles, which included Toy Story 2, Tarzan, Dinosaur, Scary
Movie and The Sixth Sense.

On a pro forma basis, segment operating income increased $184
million, to $260 million, due to increases in worldwide home video
and stage plays. Costs and expenses, which consist primarily of pro-
duction cost amortization, distribution and selling expenses, product
costs, labor and leasehold expenses, decreased 1%, or $89 million,
driven by decreases in worldwide theatrical motion picture distribu-
tion, partially offset by increases in worldwide home video. In world-
wide theatrical motion picture distribution, cost decreases reflected
lower distribution expenses and production costs amortization in the
current year as well as higher participation expenses in the prior year,
due to Toy Story 2 and The Sixth Sense. The increased costs in world-
wide home video reflected higher distribution expense and production
costs amortization driven by an increase in VHS and DVD unit sales
and higher participation costs due to the success of Toy Story 2 in the
current year. Stage plays operating expenses also increased due to
more productions in the current year.

On an as-reported basis, segment operating income increased $134
million, to $260 million, reflecting the items described above, as well
as the impact of SOP 00-2 in the current year, which resulted in higher
distribution and marketing costs as compared to the prior year.

2000 vs. 1999 Revenues decreased 3%, or $165 million, to $6.0 bil-
lion, driven by declines of $206 million in network television produc-
tion and distribution, $168 million in worldwide home video and $58
million in domestic theatrical motion picture distribution, partially
offset by growth of $197 million in international theatrical motion
picture distribution and $88 million in stage plays. The decline in net-
work television production and distribution revenues primarily
reflected the end of production of Home Improvement in the prior
year, which was a significant contributor to revenues. The decline in
worldwide home video revenues reflected fewer unit sales in the cur-
rent year, despite the successful releases of Tarzan and Little Mermaid
II: Return to Sea, as the prior year included the combination of Lion
King II: Simba’s Pride, Mulan, Armageddon and Disney/Pixar’s A
Bug’s Life. In domestic theatrical motion picture distribution, the suc-
cess of Scary Movie, Dinosaur and Toy Story 2 faced difficult compar-
isons to the prior year. Growth in international theatrical motion
picture distribution revenues reflected the performances of Toy Story
2, Tarzan and The Sixth Sense. Stage plays revenues increased due to
expansion of The Lion King into additional cities, the launch of Aida
and the re-launch of the Beauty and the Beast national tour.

Segment operating income decreased 22%, or $36 million, to $126
million, due to declines in worldwide home video and network televi-
sion production and distribution, partially offset by growth in interna-
tional theatrical motion picture distribution and stage plays. Costs and
expenses, which consist primarily of production cost amortization,
distribution and selling expenses, product costs, labor and leasehold
expenses, decreased 2% or $129 million. Production cost amortization
decreased in network television production and distribution reflecting
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the production of Home Improvement in the prior year. In worldwide
home video, distribution and selling costs and production cost amorti-
zation decreased due to a reduction in videotape unit sales compared
to the prior year. The Sixth Sense, which drove higher participation
costs in domestic theatrical motion picture distribution in the prior
year, had a similar impact in international theatrical motion picture
distribution in the current year. Cost increases in international theatri-
cal motion picture distribution also reflected higher overall production
cost amortization. Stage plays operating expenses also increased
driven by revenue increases.

Consumer  Products

2001 vs. 2000 On a pro forma basis, revenues decreased 6%, or
$158 million, to $2.6 billion, primarily reflecting declines of $157
million at the Disney Stores, which were driven by lower comparative
store sales in North America. 

On an as-reported basis, revenues decreased 6% or $172 million,
to $2.6 billion, reflecting the items described above, as well as the
impact of the disposition of Fairchild Publications in the first quarter
of the prior year. 

Segment operating income increased 4%, or $16 million, to $401
million, primarily driven by benefits from cost reduction initiatives,
partially offset by declines at the Disney Stores in North America.
Costs and expenses, which consist primarily of labor, product costs,
including product development costs, distribution and selling
expenses and leasehold expenses, decreased 7% or $174 million,
primarily due to lower sales volume at the Disney Stores in North
America, decreased catalog circulation and advertising costs and 
the impact of cost reduction initiatives including the Disney Store 
in Europe.

2000 vs. 1999 Revenues decreased 12%, or $364 million, to $2.8
billion, reflecting declines of $163 million at Fairchild Publications,
$135 million in worldwide merchandise licensing and publishing, par-
tially offset by growth of $22 million at Disney Interactive. Revenues
decreased at Fairchild Publications as it was sold in the first quarter 
of fiscal 2000. Lower merchandise licensing and publishing revenues
were primarily attributable to declines domestically and in Europe.
Disney Interactive revenues increased due to the success of the Who
Wants to Be a Millionaire video games, Pooh learning titles and the
Toy Story 2 action game.

Segment operating income decreased 35%, or $206 million, to
$386 million, reflecting declines in worldwide merchandise licensing
and publishing and the sale of Fairchild Publications, partially offset
by increases at the Disney Stores, primarily driven by a reduction in
costs, and at Disney Interactive. Costs and expenses decreased 6% or
$158 million. Cost decreases at the Disney Stores, which reflected
write-downs of inventory in the prior year, were partially offset by an
increase in advertising costs. 

L I Q U I D I T Y  A N D  C A P I T A L  R E S O U R C E S

Cash provided by operations decreased 19%, or $707 million, to 
$3.0 billion, reflecting decreased pretax income before non-cash
charges, increased payments for television broadcast rights, primarily
due to the timing of the NFL payments and increased license fees for
Primetime programming and the timing of the payments of accounts
payable. These decreases were partially offset by lower income tax
payments. Additionally, the prior year included proceeds from the sale
of receivables at Disney Vacation Club. These decreases were par-
tially offset by higher net income before non-cash charges.

During the year, the company invested $1.8 billion in parks,
resorts and other properties. These expenditures reflected continued
expansion activities related to Disney’s California Adventure and cer-
tain resort facilities at the Walt Disney World Resort. The decrease
from the prior year was primarily due to lower spending on Disney’s
California Adventure, which opened in February 2001.

During the year, the company invested $480 million to acquire the
copyright for certain intellectual property, radio station and publishing
assets and the rights to a music library.

In fiscal 2001, investing activities also included $137 million of
cash proceeds generated primarily from the sale of Infoseek Japan,
K.K. Additionally, cash proceeds from the sale of investments resulted
primarily from the sale of Knight-Ridder, Inc. shares which were
acquired in connection with the disposition of certain publishing oper-
ations. During fiscal 2000, investing activities included cash proceeds
from the sale of Fairchild Publications and Eurosport. Fiscal 2000
cash proceeds from the sale of investments were driven by the sale of
Inktomi shares acquired through the disposition of Ultraseek.

During 1998, the company’s Board of Directors decided to move
to an annual, rather than quarterly, dividend policy to reduce costs 
and simplify payments to the more than 2.7 million stockholders of
Disney common stock. Accordingly, there was no dividend payment
during the year ended September 30, 1999. The company paid a $434
million dividend ($0.21 per Disney share) during the first quarter 
of fiscal 2000 applicable to fiscal 1999 and paid a $438 million divi-
dend ($0.21 per Disney share) during the first quarter of the current
year applicable to fiscal 2000. On November 27, 2001, the Board 
of Directors declared a cash dividend, applicable to fiscal 2001, of
$0.21 per share, to be paid on December 21, 2001, to stockholders at
the close of business December 7, 2001.

During the year, the company repaid approximately $2.8 billion 
of term debt, which either matured or was called during the year, 
and reduced its commercial paper borrowings by $186 million. 
These repayments were funded by proceeds of $3.1 billion consisting
of $2.5 billion of Global bonds and $50 million of fixed-rate notes
issued under the U.S. shelf registration, and $530 million of fixed-
rate notes issued under the Euro Medium-term Note Program. These
borrowings have effective interest rates, including the impact of 
interest rate swaps, ranging from 3.5% to 5.9% and maturities in 
fiscal 2003 through fiscal 2016. See Note 5 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for more detailed information regarding the
company’s borrowings.

In August 2001, the company filed a new U.S. shelf registration
statement, which replaced the existing U.S. shelf registration state-
ment. As of September 30, 2001, the company had the ability to
borrow under the U.S. shelf registration statement and a Euro
Medium-term Note Program, which collectively permitted the
issuance of up to approximately $8.1 billion of additional debt or 
various other securities.

Commercial paper borrowings outstanding as of September 30,
2001 totaled $754 million, with maturities of up to one year, sup-
ported by a $2.25 billion bank facility due in 2002 and a $2.25 billion
bank facility due in 2005. These bank facilities allow for borrowings
at LIBOR-based rates plus a spread, depending upon the company’s
public debt rating. As of September 30, 2001, the company had not
borrowed against these bank facilities.

Total commitments to purchase broadcast programming approxi-
mated $13.2 billion at September 30, 2001, including approximately
$10.1 billion related to sports programming rights, primarily NFL,
College Football and MLB. Substantially all of this amount is payable
over the next five years.

The company expects the ABC Television Network, ESPN and the
company’s television and radio stations to continue to enter into pro-
gramming commitments to purchase the broadcast rights for various
feature films, sports and other programming.

During the year, the company acquired approximately 63.9 million
shares of Disney common stock and 1.8 million shares of Internet
Group common stock for approximately $1.1 billion and $10 million,
respectively. As of September 30, 2001, the company was authorized
to purchase up to approximately 330 million shares of Disney com-
mon stock.

On October 24, 2001 the company acquired Fox Family
Worldwide for $5.2 billion, including $2.9 billion in cash and the
assumption of $2.3 billion in debt and preferred stock. The company
funded the acquisition with cash on hand as well as short and long-
term debt issuances. In connection with the acquisition, the company
acquired programming commitments totaling approximately $1 bil-
lion, including approximately $675 million for certain MLB games
through 2006.
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Following the acquisition of Fox Family Worldwide, the company
had commercial paper borrowings outstanding of approximately $3.8 bil-
lion supported by bank facilities totaling $4.5 billion and capacity to
raise an additional $7.1 billion under its U.S. shelf registration and its
Euro Medium-term Note Program.

The company believes that its financial condition is strong and
that its cash, other liquid assets, operating cash flows, access to equity
capital markets and borrowing capacity, taken together, provide ade-
quate resources to fund ongoing operating requirements and future
capital expenditures related to the expansion of existing businesses
and development of new projects. However, the company’s operating
cash flow and access to the capital markets can be impacted by
macroeconomic factors outside of its control. In addition to macro-
economic factors, the company’s borrowing costs can be impacted 
by short and long-term debt ratings assigned by independent rating
agencies, which are based, in significant part, on certain credit meas-
ures such as interest coverage and leverage ratios.

O T H E R  M A T T E R S

Convers ion  to  the  Euro  Currency

On January 1, 1999, certain member countries of the European Union
established fixed conversion rates between their existing currencies
and the European Union’s common currency (euro). The transition
period for the introduction of the euro ends January 1, 2002. Issues
facing the company as a result of the introduction of the euro include
converting information technology systems, reassessing currency risk,
negotiating and amending licensing agreements and contracts, and
processing tax and accounting records. The company is continuing to
address these issues and does not expect the euro to have a material
effect on the company’s financial condition or results of operations.

Account ing  Changes

Effective October 1, 2000, the company adopted AICPA Statement of
Position No. 00-2, Accounting by Producers or Distributors of Films
(SOP 00-2). The company’s results of operations and financial posi-
tion reflect the impact of the new standard commencing October 1,
2000 and the company recorded a one-time after-tax charge of 
$228 million representing the cumulative effect of the adoption of
SOP 00-2 in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended
September 30, 2001.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (SFAS
133), subsequently amended by SFAS No. 137 and SFAS No. 138.
SFAS 133 requires the company to record all derivatives on the bal-
ance sheet at fair value. Changes in derivative fair values will either
be recognized in earnings as offsets to the changes in fair value of
related hedged assets, liabilities and firm commitments or, for fore-
casted transactions, deferred and recorded as a component of other
accumulated comprehensive income until the hedged transactions
occur and are recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a
hedging derivative’s change in fair value will be immediately recog-
nized in earnings. 

As a result of adopting SFAS 133 as of October 1, 2000, and in
accordance with the transition provisions, the company recorded a
one-time after-tax charge of $50 million, or $0.02 per share, in its
Consolidated Statements of Income representing the cumulative effect
of adoption and an after-tax unrealized gain of $60 million to accumu-
lated other comprehensive income (AOCI).

In July 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 141, Business Combinations (SFAS 141) and Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets (SFAS 142). They also issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Obligations
Associated with the Retirement of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 143), and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144), in
August and October 2001, respectively.

SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June
30, 2001 be accounted for under the purchase method. SFAS 141

superseded APB Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations, and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 38, Accounting for
Preacquisition Contingencies of Purchased Enterprises and is 
effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. 

SFAS 142 addresses the financial accounting and reporting 
for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. Under the new
rules, the company is no longer required to amortize goodwill and
other intangible assets with indefinite lives but will be subject to peri-
odic testing for impairment. SFAS 142 supersedes APB Opinion No.
17, Intangible Assets. Effective October 1, 2001, the company will
adopt SFAS 142 and is evaluating the effect that such adoption may
have on its consolidated results of operations and financial position. 

As a result of adoption, a substantial amount of its intangible
assets will no longer be amortized and accordingly, the company’s
effective tax rate is expected to decrease substantially in fiscal 2002.
The impact of intangible asset amortization that would not have been
amortized pursuant to SFAS 142 during fiscal 2001 on diluted earn-
ings per share was $0.26.

SFAS 143 establishes accounting standards for the recognition and
measurement of an asset retirement obligation and its associated asset
retirement cost. It also provides accounting guidance for legal obliga-
tions associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets.
SFAS 143 is effective in fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002,
with early adoption permitted. The company expects that the provi-
sions of SFAS 143 will not have a material impact on its consolidated
results of operations and financial position upon adoption. The com-
pany plans to adopt SFAS 143 effective October 1, 2002.

SFAS 144 establishes a single accounting model for the impair-
ment or disposal of long-lived assets, including discontinued oper-
ations. SFAS 144 superseded Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of and APB Opinion
No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations - Reporting the Effects 
of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. The provisions
of SFAS 144 are effective in fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2001, with early adoption permitted and, in general, are to be
applied prospectively. The company plans to adopt SFAS 144
effective October 1, 2001 and does not expect that the adoption will
have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations and
financial position.

Forward-Look ing  Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe
harbor for forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the
company. We may from time to time make written or oral statements
that are “forward-looking,” including statements contained in this
report and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
and in reports to our stockholders. Such statements may, for example,
express expectations or projections about future actions that we may
take, including restructuring or strategic initiatives or about develop-
ments beyond our control including changes in domestic or global
economic conditions. These statements are made on the basis of man-
agement’s views and assumptions as of the time the statements are
made. There can be no assurance, however, that our expectations will
necessarily come to pass.

Factors that may affect forward-looking statements. For an enter-
prise as large and complex as the company, a wide range of factors
could materially affect future developments and performance, includ-
ing the following:

Changes in company-wide or business-unit strategies, which may
result in changes in the types or mix of businesses in which the
company is involved or chooses to invest;

Changes in U.S., global or regional economic conditions, which
may affect attendance and spending at the company’s parks and
resorts, purchases of company-licensed consumer products, the
advertising market for broadcast and cable television program-
ming and the performance of the company’s theatrical and home
entertainment releases;
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Changes in U.S. and global financial and equity markets, includ-
ing market disruptions and significant interest rate fluctuations,
which may impede the company’s access to, or increase the cost
of, external financing for its operations and investments;

Increased competitive pressures, both domestically and interna-
tionally, which may, among other things, affect the performance 
of the company’s parks and resorts operations and lead to
increased expenses in such areas as television programming
acquisition and motion picture production and marketing;

Legal and regulatory developments that may affect particular busi-
ness units, such as regulatory actions affecting environmental
activities, consumer products, theme park safety, broadcasting or
Internet activities or the protection of intellectual property; the
imposition by foreign countries of trade restrictions or motion pic-
ture or television content requirements or quotas, and changes in
international tax laws or currency controls;

Adverse weather conditions or natural disasters, such as hurricanes
and earthquakes, which may, among other things, impair perform-
ance at the company’s parks and resorts;

Technological developments that may affect the distribution of the
company’s creative products or create new risks to the company’s
ability to protect its intellectual property;

Labor disputes, which may lead to increased costs or disruption of
operations in any of the company’s business units;

Changing public and consumer taste, which may among other
things, affect the company’s entertainment, broadcasting and con-
sumer products businesses generally or the company’s parks and
resorts operating specifically, or result in increases in broadcasting
losses or loss of advertising revenue; and

International, political and military developments that may affect
among other things, travel and leisure businesses generally or the
company’s parks and resorts operations specifically, or result in
increases in broadcasting costs or loss of advertising revenue.

This list of factors that may affect future performance and the
accuracy of forward-looking statements is illustrative, but by no
means exhaustive. Accordingly, all forward-looking statements should
be evaluated with the understanding of their inherent uncertainty.

M A R K E T  R I S K

The company is exposed to the impact of interest rate changes, for-
eign currency fluctuations and changes in the market values of its
investments.

Pol ic ies  and Procedures

In the normal course of business, the company employs established
policies and procedures to manage its exposure to changes in interest
rates, foreign currencies and the fair market value of certain of its
investments in debt and equity securities using a variety of financial
instruments.

Our objective in managing exposure to interest rate changes are to
limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows
and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, we
primarily use interest rate swaps to manage net exposure to interest
rate changes related to the company’s portfolio of borrowings. The
company maintains fixed rate debt as a percentage of its net debt
between a minimum and maximum percentage, which is set by policy.

Our objective in managing exposure to foreign currency fluctua-
tions is to reduce earnings and cash flow volatility in order to allow
management to focus on core business issues and challenges.
Accordingly, the company enters into various contracts that change 
in value as foreign exchange rates change to protect the value of its
existing foreign currency assets, liabilities, commitments and fore-
casted foreign currency revenues. The company utilizes option 
strategies and forward contracts that provide for the sale of foreign
currencies to hedge probable, but not firmly committed, revenues. 
The company also uses forward contracts to hedge foreign currency

assets and liabilities in the same principal currencies. The principal
currencies hedged are the European euro, British pound, Japanese yen
and Canadian dollar. By policy, the company maintains hedge cover-
age between minimum and maximum percentages of its forecasted
foreign exchange exposures for periods not to exceed five years. The
gains and losses on these contracts offset changes in the value of the
related exposures.

In addition, we use various financial instruments to minimize the
exposure to changes in fair market value of certain investments in
debt and equity securities.

It is the company’s policy to enter into foreign currency and
interest rate transactions and other financial instruments only to the
extent considered necessary to meet its objectives as stated above. 
The company does not enter into these transactions for speculative
purposes.

Va lue  a t  R isk

The company utilizes a “Value-at-Risk” (VAR) model to determine
the maximum potential one-day loss in the fair value of its interest
rate, foreign exchange and qualifying equity sensitive financial instru-
ments. The VAR model estimates were made assuming normal market
conditions and a 95% confidence level. Various modeling techniques
can be used in a VAR computation. The company’s computations are
based on the interrelationships between movements in various interest
rates, currencies and equity prices (a “variance/co-variance” tech-
nique). These interrelationships were determined by observing interest
rate, foreign currency and equity market changes over the preceding
quarter for the calculation of VAR amounts at year-end and over each
of the four quarters for the calculation of average VAR amounts dur-
ing the year. The model includes all of the company’s debt as well as
all interest rate and foreign exchange derivative contracts and qualify-
ing equity investments. The values of foreign exchange options do 
not change on a one-to-one basis with the underlying currencies, as
exchange rates vary. Therefore, the hedge coverage assumed to be
obtained from each option has been adjusted to reflect its respective
sensitivity to changes in currency values. Forecasted transactions,
firm commitments and receivables and accounts payable denominated
in foreign currencies, which certain of these instruments are intended
to hedge, were excluded from the model.

The VAR model is a risk analysis tool and does not purport to rep-
resent actual losses in fair value that will be incurred by the company,
nor does it consider the potential effect of favorable changes in 
market factors. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
regarding the company’s financial instruments at September 30, 
2001 and 2000.

The estimated maximum potential one-day loss in fair value, cal-
culated using the VAR model, is as follows:

Interest Rate Currency Equity
Sensitive Sensitive Sensitive
Financial Financial Financial Combined

(unaudited, in millions)    Instruments Instruments Instruments Portfolio

VAR as of 
September 30, 2001 $21 $13 $ 7 $29

Average VAR during 
the year ended 
September 30, 2001 $14 $15 $ 6 $20

Highest VAR during 
the year ended 
September 30, 2001 $21 $16 $10 $29

Lowest VAR during
the year ended
September 30, 2001 $ 6 $13 $ 3 $16
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Year Ended September 30,

(In millions, except per share data) 2001 2000 1999

Revenues $ 25,269 $ 25,418 $ 23,455
Costs and expenses (21,670) (21,660) (20,030)
Amortization of intangible assets (767) (1,233) (456)
Gain on sale of businesses 22 489 345
Net interest expense and other (417) (497) (612)
Equity in the income of investees 300 208 (127)
Restructuring and impairment charges (1,454) (92) (172)

Income before income taxes, minority interests and the cumulative effect of accounting changes 1,283 2,633 2,403
Income taxes (1,059) (1,606) (1,014)
Minority interests (104) (107) (89)

Income before the cumulative effect of accounting changes 120 920 1,300
Cumulative effect of accounting changes:

Film accounting (228) — —
Derivative accounting (50) — —

Net (loss) income $ (158) $ 920 $ 1,300

Earnings (loss) attributed to:
Disney Common Stock(1) $ (41) $ 1,196 $ 1,300
Internet Group Common Stock (117) (276) —

$ (158) $ 920 $ 1,300

Earnings (loss) per share before the cumulative effect of accounting changes attributed to:
Disney Common Stock:(1)

Diluted $ 0.11 $ 0.57 $ 0.62

Basic $ 0.11 $ 0.58 $ 0.63

Internet Group Common Stock (basic and diluted) $ (2.72) $ (6.18) n/a

Cumulative effect of accounting changes per Disney share:
Film Accounting $ (0.11) $ — $ —
Derivative Accounting (0.02) — —

$ (0.13) $ — $ —

Earnings (loss) per share attributed to:
Disney Common Stock:(1)

Diluted $ (0.02) $ 0.57 $ 0.62

Basic $ (0.02) $ 0.58 $ 0.63

Internet Group Common Stock (basic and diluted) $ (2.72) $ (6.18) n/a

Average number of common and common equivalent shares outstanding:
Disney Common Stock:

Diluted 2,100 2,103 2,083

Basic 2,085 2,074 2,056

Internet Group (basic and diluted) 43 45 n/a

(1)Including Disney’s retained interest in the Internet Group. Disney’s as-reported retained interest in the Internet Group reflects 100% of Internet Group losses through
November 17, 1999, approximately 72% for the period from November 18, 1999 through January 28, 2001 (the last date prior to the announcement of the conversion
of the Internet Group common stock) and 100% thereafter.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  I N C O M E

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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September 30,

(In millions, except per share data) 2001 2000

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 618 $ 842
Receivables 3,343 3,599
Inventories 671 702
Television costs 1,175 1,162
Deferred income taxes 622 623
Other assets 600 635

Total current assets 7,029 7,563

Film and television costs 5,235 5,339
Investments 2,061 2,270
Parks, resorts and other property, at cost

Attractions, buildings and equipment 19,089 16,610
Accumulated depreciation (7,728) (6,892)

11,361 9,718
Projects in progress 911 1,995
Land 635 597

12,907 12,310

Intangible assets, net 14,540 16,117
Other assets 1,927 1,428

$43,699 $45,027

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities $ 4,603 $ 5,161
Current portion of borrowings 829 2,502
Unearned royalties and other advances 787 739

Total current liabilities 6,219 8,402

Borrowings 8,940 6,959
Deferred income taxes 2,730 2,833
Other long term liabilities, unearned royalties and other advances 2,756 2,377
Minority interests 382 356
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock, $.01 par value
Authorized – 100 million shares, Issued – none

Common stock
Common stock – Disney, $.01 par value

Authorized – 3.6 billion shares, Issued – 2.1 billion shares 12,096 9,920
Common stock – Internet Group, $.01 par value

Authorized – 1.0 billion shares
Issued – 45.3 million shares as of September 30, 2000 — 2,181

Retained earnings 12,171 12,767
Accumulated other comprehensive income 10 (28)

24,277 24,840
Treasury stock, at cost, 81.4 million and 31 million Disney shares (1,395) (689)
Shares held by TWDC Stock Compensation Fund II, at cost

Disney – 8.6 million and 1.1 million shares (210) (40)
Internet Group – 0.9 million shares as of September 30, 2000 — (11)

22,672 24,100

$43,699 $45,027

C O N S O L I D A T E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year Ended September 30,

(In millions) 2001 2000 1999

Net Income (Loss) $ (158) $ 920 $ 1,300
Operating Items Not Requiring Cash 

Depreciation 987 962 851
Amortization of intangible assets 767 1,233 456
Cumulative effect of accounting changes 278 — —
Restructuring and impairment charges 1,247 92 70
Gain on sale of businesses (22) (489) (345)
Equity in the income of investees (300) (208) 127
Minority interests 104 107 89
Other 187 303 205

Changes In
Receivables 279 205 376
Inventories 54 65 103
Other assets 33 183 (165)
Accounts and taxes payable and other accrued liabilities (283) (41) 388
Film and television costs (183) 192 (867)
Deferred income taxes 58 231 (20)

3,206 2,835 1,268

Cash provided by operations 3,048 3,755 2,568

Investing Activities
Investments in parks, resorts and other property (1,795) (2,013) (2,134)
Acquisitions (net of cash acquired) (480) (34) (319)
Dispositions 137 913 —
Proceeds from sale of investments 235 207 202
Purchases of investments (88) (82) (39)
Investments in Euro Disney — (91) —
Other (24) 9 —

Cash used by investing activities (2,015) (1,091) (2,290)

Financing Activities
Borrowings 3,070 1,117 2,306
Reduction of borrowings (2,807) (2,494) (2,031)
Repurchases of common stock (1,073) (166) (19)
Commercial paper borrowings, net (186) (741) (451)
Exercise of stock options and other 177 482 204
Dividends (438) (434) —

Cash (used) provided by financing activities (1,257) (2,236) 9

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (224) 428 287
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 842 414 127

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 618 $ 842 $ 414

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 625 $ 583 $ 659

Income taxes paid $ 881 $ 1,170 $ 721

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Walt Disney Company and Subsidiaries

        



Accumulated
Other

Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stockholders’
(In millions, except per share data) DIS DIG DIS DIG Earnings Income Stock DIS DIG Equity Total

Balance at September 30, 1998 2,050 — $ 8,995 $ — $10,981 $ 13 $ (593) $ (8) $ — $19,388
Exercise of stock options, net 14 — 329 — — — (12) 17 — 334
Common stock reissued 1 — — — — — — 10 — 10
Common stock repurchased (1) — — — — — — (19) — (19)
Other comprehensive income 

(net of tax benefit of $30 million) — — — — — (38) — — — (38)
Net income — — — — 1,300 — — — — 1,300

Balance at September 30, 1999 2,064 — 9,324 — 12,281 (25) (605) — — 20,975
Common stock issued — 44 — 2,149 — — — — — 2,149
Exercise of stock options, net 27 2 596 32 — — (84) 115 — 659
Common stock repurchased (5) (1) — — — — — (155) (11) (166)
Dividends ($0.21 per Disney share) — — — — (434) — — — — (434)
Other comprehensive income 

(net of tax benefit of $2 million) — — — — — (3) — — — (3)
Net income — — — — 920 — — — — 920

Balance at September 30, 2000 2,086 45 9,920 2,181 12,767 (28) (689) (40) (11) 24,100
Common stock issued (cancellation) — (1) — (22) — — — — — (22)
Exercise of stock options, net 8 — 17 — — — — 208 — 225
Common stock repurchased (64) (2) — — — — (706) (357) (10) (1,073)
Conversion of DIG shares 8 (42) 2,159 (2,159) — — — (21) 21 —
Dividends ($0.21 per Disney share) — — — — (438) — — — — (438)
Other comprehensive income 

(net of tax expense of $23 million) — — — — — 38 — — — 38
Net loss — — — — (158) — — — — (158)

Balance at September 30, 2001 2,038 — $12,096 $ — $12,171 $ 10 $(1,395) $(210) $ — $22,672

(1) The TWDC Stock Compensation Fund was established pursuant to the repurchase program to acquire shares of company common stock for the purpose of funding certain stock-
based compensation (See Note 8)  

Comprehensive income (loss) is as follows:

2001 2000 1999

Net income (loss) $(158) $920 $1,300
Cumulative effect of adoption 

of SFAS 133, net of tax 60 — —
Cumulative translation and other 

adjustments, net of tax (22) (3) (38)

Comprehensive income (loss) $(120) $917 $1,262

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  

S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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N O T E  1 .  D E S C R I P T I O N  O F  T H E  B U S I N E S S

A N D  S U M M A R Y  O F  S I G N I F I C A N T

A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

The Walt Disney Company, together with its subsidiaries (the com-
pany), is a diversified worldwide entertainment company with opera-
tions in the following businesses: Media Networks, Parks & Resorts,
Studio Entertainment and Consumer Products. During the year, 
the company changed the reporting structure of the businesses that
comprise the Internet Group and, accordingly, no longer reports the
Internet Group as a separate business segment.

M E D I A  N E T W O R K S

The company operates the ABC Television Network and the ABC
Radio Networks, which have affiliated stations providing coverage 
to households throughout the United States. The company also owns
television and radio stations, most of which are affiliated with either
the ABC Television Network or the ABC Radio Networks. The
company’s cable and international broadcast operations are princi-
pally involved in the production and distribution of cable television
programming, the licensing of programming to domestic and interna-
tional markets and investing in foreign television broadcasting, pro-
duction and distribution entities. Primary cable programming services,
which operate through consolidated subsidiary companies, are ESPN-
branded networks, the Disney Channel, Disney Channel Worldwide,
SoapNet and Toon Disney. Other programming services that operate
through joint ventures, and are accounted for under the equity method,
include A&E Television Networks, Lifetime Entertainment Services
and E! Entertainment Television. The company also produces original
television programming for network, first-run syndication, pay and
international syndication markets. Additionally, the company operates
ABC, ESPN, Disney and family-branded Internet web site businesses.

P A R K S  &  R E S O R T S

The company operates the Walt Disney World Resort in Florida and
the Disneyland Resort in California. The Walt Disney World Resort
includes the Magic Kingdom, Epcot, Disney-MGM Studios and
Disney’s Animal Kingdom, thirteen resort hotels and a complex of
villas and suites, a retail, dining and entertainment complex, a sports
complex, conference centers, campgrounds, golf courses, water parks
and other recreational facilities. In addition, Disney Cruise Line 
is operated out of Port Canaveral, Florida. The Disneyland Resort
includes Disneyland, Disney’s California Adventure, Disney’s Grand
Californian Hotel, Disneyland Hotel, Disney’s Paradise Pier Hotel and
Downtown Disney. Disney’s Regional Entertainment designs, devel-
ops and operates sports-themed dining and entertainment facilities
operating as ESPN Zone. The company earns royalties on revenues
generated by the Tokyo Disneyland Resort, which includes two 
theme parks and two Disney-branded hotels, near Tokyo, Japan, and 
is owned and operated by an unrelated Japanese corporation. The
company has an investment in Euro Disney S.C.A. (Euro Disney), 
a publicly held French entity that operates Disneyland Resort Paris
and earns royalties on Disneyland Resort Paris revenues. A company
subsidiary also receives management fees from Euro Disney. The
company’s Walt Disney Imagineering unit designs and develops new
theme park concepts and attractions, as well as resort properties. The
company also manages and markets vacation ownership interests 
in the Disney Vacation Club. Included in Parks & Resorts are the
company’s National Hockey League franchise, the Mighty Ducks of
Anaheim, and the Anaheim Angels, a Major League Baseball team.

S T U D I O  E N T E R T A I N M E N T

The company produces and acquires live-action and animated motion
pictures for distribution to the theatrical, home video and television
markets. The company also produces original animated television

programming for network, first-run syndication, pay and interna-
tional syndication markets, stage plays and musical recordings. The
company distributes these products through its own distribution and
marketing companies in the United States and most foreign markets
under the Walt Disney Pictures, Touchstone Pictures, Hollywood
Pictures, Miramax and Dimension banners.

C O N S U M E R  P R O D U C T S

The company licenses the name “Walt Disney,” as well as the com-
pany’s characters, visual and literary properties, to various consumer
manufacturers, retailers, show promoters and publishers throughout
the world. The company also engages in direct retail distribution,
principally through the Disney Stores, and produces books and maga-
zines for the general public in the United States and Europe. In addi-
tion, the company produces audio and computer software products for
the entertainment market, as well as film, video and computer soft-
ware products for the educational marketplace. The company’s Direct
Marketing business operates the Disney Catalog, which markets
Disney-themed merchandise through the direct mail channel. Catalog
offerings include merchandise developed exclusively for the Disney
Catalog and DisneyStore.com, as well as products from the Disney
Store, other internal Disney partners and Disney licensees.

S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S

Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements 
of the company include the accounts of The Walt Disney Company
and its subsidiaries after elimination of intercompany accounts and
transactions. In December 1999, DVD Financing, Inc. (DFI), a sub-
sidiary of Disney Vacation Development, Inc. and an indirect sub-
sidiary of the company, completed a receivable sale transaction. In
connection with this sale, DFI prepares separate financial statements,
although its separate assets and liabilities are also consolidated in
these financial statements.

Accounting Changes Effective October 1, 2000, the company
adopted two new accounting pronouncements, AICPA Statement of
Position No. 00-2, Accounting by Producers or Distributors of Films
(SOP 00-2) and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
(SFAS 133), subsequently amended by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 138 (SFAS 138).

SOP 00-2 establishes new accounting standards for producers and
distributors of films, which resulted in changes in revenue recognition
and accounting for exploitation costs, including advertising and mar-
keting expenses and development and overhead costs. As a result of
the adoption of SOP 00-2, the company recorded a one-time after-tax
charge of $228 million, or $0.11 per share, representing the cumula-
tive effect of the adoption. The charge represents costs that were capi-
talized as of September 30, 2000, that would have been expensed
under the new rules. The adoption of SOP 00-2 did not have a mate-
rial impact on the current fiscal year’s operating results.

SFAS 133 and SFAS 138 require that the company record all
derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. There are two types of
derivatives into which the company enters: hedges of fair value expo-
sure and hedges of cash flow exposure. Hedges of fair value exposure
are entered into in order to hedge the fair value of a recognized asset
or liability, or a firm commitment. Hedges of cash flow exposure are
entered into in order to hedge a forecasted transaction or the variabil-
ity of cash flows to be paid related to a recognized liability. On the
date on which the derivative contract is executed, the company desig-
nates the derivative as either a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge.
Changes in derivative fair values that are designated as fair value
hedges are recognized in earnings as offsets to the changes in fair
value of related hedged assets, liabilities and firm commitments.
Changes in the derivative fair values that are designated as cash flow

N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

        



hedges are deferred and recorded as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (AOCI) until the hedged transactions
occur and are recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a
hedging derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in
earnings. Derivatives that are executed for risk management purposes
but not designated as hedges under SFAS 133 and SFAS 138 are
recorded at their market value and recognized in current earnings.

The company formally documents all relationships between hedg-
ing instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management
objectives and strategies for undertaking various hedge transactions.
The company links all hedges that are designated as fair value hedges
to specific assets or liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm
commitments. The company links all hedges that are designated as
cash flow hedges to forecasted transactions or to floating-rate liabili-
ties on the balance sheet. The company also assesses, both at the
inception of the hedge and on an on-going basis, whether the deriva-
tives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in off-
setting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items. Should it
be determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, the
company will discontinue hedge accounting prospectively.

As a result of adopting SFAS 133 as of October 1, 2000, and in
accordance with the transition provisions, the company recorded a
one-time after-tax charge of $50 million, or $0.02 per share, in its
Consolidated Statements of Income representing the cumulative effect
of the adoption, and an after-tax unrealized gain of $60 million to
AOCI. Amounts expected to be reclassified to earnings over the next
twelve months are not material. The company reclassified a $16 mil-
lion after-tax gain from AOCI to earnings during fiscal 2001, which
was offset by net losses on items being hedged. The adoption of 
SFAS 133 did not have a material impact on the current fiscal year’s
operating results.

During the year, the company recorded the change in value related
to cash flow hedges to AOCI, which was not material. In addition, 
the company reclassified deferred losses related to certain cash flow
hedges from AOCI to earnings, due to the uncertainty of the timing of
the original forecasted transaction. 

During the year, the company recorded the change in fair market
value related to fair value hedges and the ineffectiveness related to
cash flow hedges to earnings. These amounts were not material. 

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business
Combinations (SFAS 141), and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS
142). They also issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 143, Accounting for Obligations Associated with the Retirement 
of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 143), and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144), in August and October
2001, respectively.

SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June
30, 2001 be accounted for under the purchase method. SFAS 141
supersedes APB Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations, and
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 38, Accounting 
for Preacquisition Contingencies of Purchased Enterprises, and is
effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. 

SFAS 142 addresses the financial accounting and reporting for
acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. Under the new rules,
the company is no longer required to amortize goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite lives, but will be subject to periodic
testing for impairment. SFAS 142 supersedes APB Opinion No. 17,
Intangible Assets. Effective October 1, 2001, the company will adopt
SFAS 142 and is evaluating the effect that such adoption may have on
its consolidated results of operations and financial position. However, 

the company expects that a substantial amount of its intangible assets
will no longer be amortized.

SFAS 143 establishes accounting standards for the recognition and
measurement of an asset retirement obligation and its associated asset
retirement cost. It also provides accounting guidance for legal obliga-
tions associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets.
SFAS 143 is effective in fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002,
with early adoption permitted. The company expects that the provi-
sions of SFAS 143 will not have a material impact on its consolidated
results of operations and financial position upon adoption. The com-
pany plans to adopt SFAS 143 effective October 1, 2002.

SFAS 144 establishes a single accounting model for the impair-
ment or disposal of long-lived assets, including discontinued opera-
tions. SFAS 144 superseded Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of (SFAS 121), and
APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations - Reporting
the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary,
Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. The
provisions of SFAS 144 are effective in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001, with early adoption permitted, and in general are
to be applied prospectively. The company plans to adopt SFAS 144
effective October 1, 2001 and does not expect that the adoption will
have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations and
financial position.

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in con-
formity with generally accepted accounting principles requires man-
agement to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and footnotes thereto. Actual
results may differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition Revenues from the theatrical distribution of
motion pictures are recognized when motion pictures are exhibited.
Revenues from video sales are recognized on the date that video units
are made widely available for sale by retailers. Revenues from the
licensing of feature films and television programming are recorded
when the material is available for telecasting by the licensee and when
certain other conditions are met.

Broadcast advertising revenues are recognized when commercials
are aired. Revenues from television subscription services related to
the company’s primary cable programming services are recognized as
services are provided.

Internet advertising revenues are recognized on the basis of
impression views in the period the advertising is displayed, provided
that no significant obligations remain and collection of the resulting
receivable is probable. Direct marketing and Internet-based merchan-
dise revenues are recognized upon shipment to customers.

Merchandise licensing advance and guarantee payments are recog-
nized when the underlying royalties are earned.

Revenues from advance theme park ticket sales are recognized
when the tickets are used. Revenues from participants at the theme
parks are generally recorded over the period of the applicable agree-
ments commencing with the opening of the related attraction.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash on hand and marketable securities with original maturities of
three months or less.

Investments Debt securities that the company has the positive intent
and ability to hold to maturity are classified as “held-to-maturity” and
reported at amortized cost. Debt securities not classified as held-to-
maturity and marketable equity securities are classified as either 
“trading” or “available-for-sale,” and are recorded at fair value with
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unrealized gains and losses included in earnings or stockholders’
equity, respectively. All other equity securities are accounted for using
either the cost method or the equity method. 

The company continually reviews its investments to determine
whether a decline in fair value below the cost basis is other than tem-
porary. If the decline in fair value is judged to be other than tempo-
rary, the cost basis of the security is written down to fair value and the
amount of the write-down is included in the Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Inventories Carrying amounts of merchandise, materials and sup-
plies inventories are generally determined on a moving average cost
basis and are stated at the lower of cost or market.

Film and Television Costs Film and television costs that are pro-
duced for sale to third parties are stated at the lower of cost, less
accumulated amortization, or fair value. Programming costs for the
company’s television and cable networks are stated at the lower of
cost, less accumulated amortization, or net realizable value. Television
broadcast program licenses and rights and related liabilities are
recorded when the license period begins and the program is available
for use.

Film and television production and participation costs are
expensed based on the ratio of the current period’s gross revenues to
estimated total gross revenues from all sources on an individual pro-
duction basis. Television network and station rights for theatrical
movies and other long-form programming are charged to expense
primarily on accelerated bases related to the usage of the programs.
Television network series costs and multi-year sports rights are
charged to expense based on the ratio of the current period’s gross
revenues to estimated total gross revenues from such programs.

Estimates of total gross revenues can change significantly due to a
variety of factors, including the level of market acceptance of film and
television products, advertising rates and subscriber fees. Accordingly,
revenue estimates are reviewed periodically and amortization is
adjusted, if necessary. Such adjustments could have a material effect
on results of operations in future periods. The net realizable value of
television broadcast program licenses and rights is reviewed using a
daypart methodology.

Parks, Resorts and Other Property Parks, resorts and other property
are carried at cost. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line
method based upon estimated useful lives ranging from three to 
fifty years.

Intangible and Other Assets Intangible assets are amortized over
periods ranging from two to forty years. The company continually
reviews the recoverability of the carrying value of these assets using
the methodology prescribed in SFAS 121. The company also reviews
long-lived assets and the related intangible assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
amounts of such assets may not be recoverable. Upon such an occur-
rence, recoverability of these assets is determined by comparing the
forecasted undiscounted net cash flows of the operation to which 
the assets relate, to the carrying amount, including associated intan-
gible assets, of such operation. If the operation is determined to be
unable to recover the carrying amount of its assets, then intangible
assets are written down first, followed by the other long-lived assets
of the operation, to fair value. Fair value is determined based on dis-
counted cash flows, appraised values or management’s estimates,
depending upon the nature of the assets.

Risk Management Contracts In the normal course of business, the
company employs a variety of financial instruments to manage its
exposure to fluctuations in interest, foreign currency exchange rates

and investments in equity and debt securities, including interest rate
and cross-currency swap agreements; forward, option and swaption
contracts, and interest rate caps.

The company designates and assigns the financial instruments as
hedges of forecasted transactions, specific assets, or specific liabili-
ties. When hedged assets or liabilities are sold or extinguished or the
forecasted transactions being hedged are no longer expected to occur,
the company recognizes the gain or loss on the designated hedging
financial instruments.

Option premiums and unrealized losses on forward contracts and
the accrued differential for interest rate and cross-currency swaps to
be received under the agreements are recorded in the balance sheet as
other assets. Unrealized gains on forward contracts and the accrued
differential for interest rate and cross-currency swaps to be paid under
the agreements are included in accounts payable and other accrued
liabilities. Realized gains and losses from hedges are classified in the
income statement consistent with the accounting treatment of the
items being hedged. The company accrues the differential for interest
rate and cross-currency swaps to be paid or received under the agree-
ments as interest and exchange rates shift as adjustments to net inter-
est expense over the lives of the swaps. Gains and losses on the
termination of effective swap agreements, prior to their original matu-
rity, are deferred and amortized to net interest expense over the
remaining term of the underlying hedged transactions. 

Cash flows from hedges are classified in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows under the same category as the cash flows
from the related assets, liabilities or forecasted transactions (see Notes
5 and 12).

Earnings Per Share The company presents both basic and diluted
earnings per share (EPS) amounts. Basic EPS is calculated by divid-
ing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS amounts are based upon the
weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares
outstanding during the year. Common equivalent shares are excluded
from the computation in periods in which they have an anti-dilutive
effect. The difference between basic and diluted EPS, for the com-
pany, is solely attributable to stock options. The company uses the
treasury stock method to calculate the impact of outstanding stock
options. Stock options for which the exercise price exceeds the aver-
age market price over the period have an anti-dilutive effect on EPS
and, accordingly, are excluded from the calculation. 

For the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, options
for 81 million, 20 million and 28 million shares, respectively, were
excluded from the diluted EPS calculation for Disney common stock
because they were anti-dilutive. 

Stock Options The company uses the intrinsic-value method of
accounting for stock-based awards granted to employees and, accord-
ingly, does not recognize compensation expense for its stock-based
awards to employees in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See
Note 9 for pro forma information on the impact of the fair-value
method of accounting for stock options.

Reclassifications Certain reclassifications have been made in 
the 2000 and 1999 financial statements to conform to the 2001
presentation.

N O T E  2 .  A C Q U I S I T I O N S  A N D

D I S P O S I T I O N S  

On March 20, 2001, the company converted all of its outstanding
Internet Group common stock into Disney common stock, resulting in
the issuance of approximately 8.6 million shares of Disney common
stock. For the year ended September 30, 2001, as-reported earnings

        



attributed to Disney common stock reflect approximately 72% of
Internet Group losses from October 1, 2000 through January 28, 2001
(the last date prior to the announcement of the conversion), and 100%
thereafter. In addition, the company has ceased the operations of the
GO.com portal business, which resulted in restructuring and impair-
ment charges of $878 million in the current year (see Note 14).

In November 1999, the company sold Fairchild Publications,
which it had acquired as part of the 1996 acquisition of ABC, Inc.,
generating a pre-tax gain of $243 million.

The company’s consolidated results of operations have incorpo-
rated Infoseek’s activity, on a consolidated basis, from November 18,
1999, the date on which the company completed its acquisition of
Infoseek, and the activity of Fairchild Publications through the date 
of its disposal. The unaudited pro forma information below presents
combined results of operations as if the disposition of Fairchild
Publications, the acquisition of Infoseek, the conversion of the
Internet Group common stock into Disney common stock, the closure
of the GO.com portal business and the adoption of the new film
accounting rules (see Note 1) had occurred at the beginning of fiscal
2000, excluding the one-time impacts of those events. The pro forma
amounts below for the prior year exclude charges for purchased in-
process research and development costs of $23 million related to the
Infoseek acquisition. The unaudited pro forma information is not nec-
essarily indicative of the results of operations had these events actu-
ally occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2000, nor is it necessarily
indicative of future results. 

Year Ended 
September 30,

(unaudited)

(in millions, except for per share data) 2001 2000

Revenues $25,256 $25,356
Income before cumulative effect of 

accounting changes $ 1,157 $ 1,540
Net income $ 879 $ 1,540
Diluted earnings per share excluding 

cumulative effect of accounting changes $ 0.55 $    0.73
Diluted earnings per share including 

cumulative effect of accounting changes $ 0.42 $    0.73

The gain on the sale of Fairchild Publications is reported in the
line “gain on sale of businesses” in the Consolidated Statements 
of Income. Also reported in this line item are pre-tax gains on 
the sales of Starwave Corporation in fiscal 1999 ($345 million),
Eurosport and Ultraseek Corporation in fiscal 2000 ($93 million and
$153 million, respectively) and Infoseek Japan K.K. in the current
year ($22 million).

N O T E  3 .  I N V E S T M E N T  I N  E U R O  D I S N E Y

Euro Disney operates the Disneyland Paris theme park and resort
complex on a 4,800-acre site near Paris, France. The company
accounts for its 39% ownership interest in Euro Disney using the
equity method of accounting. As of September 30, 2001, the com-
pany’s recorded investment in Euro Disney, including accounts and
notes receivable, was $344 million. 

In connection with the financial restructuring of Euro Disney in
1994, Euro Disney Associés S.N.C. (Disney SNC), a wholly-owned
affiliate of the company, entered into a lease arrangement with a 
noncancelable term of 12 years related to substantially all of the
Disneyland Paris theme park assets, and then entered into a 12-year
sublease agreement with Euro Disney. Remaining lease rentals at
September 30, 2001 of approximately $801 million receivable from
Euro Disney under the sublease approximate the amounts payable by
Disney SNC under the lease. At the conclusion of the sublease term,
Euro Disney will have the option to assume Disney SNC’s rights 
and obligations under the lease. If Euro Disney does not exercise its
option, Disney SNC may purchase the assets, continue to lease the
assets or elect to terminate the lease, in which case Disney SNC
would make a termination payment to the lessor equal to 75% of the
lessor’s then outstanding debt related to the theme park assets, esti-
mated to be $1.1 billion; Disney SNC could then sell or lease the
assets on behalf of the lessor to satisfy the remaining debt, with any
excess proceeds payable to Disney SNC.

Also, as part of the restructuring, the company agreed to arrange
for the provision of a 10-year unsecured standby credit facility of
approximately $152 million, upon request, bearing interest at the Paris
Interbank Offered Rate (PIBOR). As of September 30, 2001, there
were no amounts outstanding under this facility. However, it is
expected that Euro Disney will draw on this line of credit during fiscal
2002. The company also agreed, as long as any of the restructured
debt is outstanding, to maintain ownership of at least 25% of the out-
standing common stock of Euro Disney through June 2004 and at
least 16.67% for an additional term thereafter.

After a five-year waiver resulting from the restructuring, royalties
and management fees from Euro Disney were partially reinstated
beginning fiscal year 1999. As a result, the company earned approxi-
mately $28 million, $30 million and $33 million in royalties and
management fees in fiscal year 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Royalties are to be fully reinstated beginning in fiscal year 2004, with
management fees progressively reinstated through fiscal year 2018.

In November 1999, Euro Disney stockholders approved an
increase in share capital through an equity rights offering. The offer-
ing raised $238 million. The net proceeds were used to partially
finance the construction of a second theme park, The Walt Disney
Studios, adjacent to the Disneyland Paris theme park. The company
subscribed to approximately $91 million of the equity rights offering,
maintaining its 39% interest in Euro Disney. The Walt Disney Studios
is expected to open in March 2002.
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N O T E  4 .  F I L M  A N D  T E L E V I S I O N  C O S T S

2001 2000

Theatrical film costs
Released, less amortization $2,324 $ 2,571
Completed, not released 445 274
In-process 1,103 1,225
In development or pre-production 143 145

4,015 4,215

Television costs
Released, less amortization 649 682
Completed, not released 62 42
In-process 407 328
In development or pre-production 41 33

1,159 1,085

Television broadcast rights 1,236 1,201

6,410 6,501
Less current portion 1,175 1,162

Non-current portion $5,235 $ 5,339

Based on management’s total gross revenue estimates as of
September 30, 2001, approximately 54% of completed and unamor-
tized film, television costs and television broadcast rights (excluding
amounts allocated to acquired film libraries) are expected to be amor-
tized during fiscal 2002, and approximately 80% during the next three
years. As of September 30, 2001, the company estimated that approxi-
mately $154 million of accrued participation liabilities will be payable
in fiscal year 2002.

N O T E  5 .  B O R R O W I N G S

The company’s borrowings at September 30, 2001 and 2000, includ-
ing interest rate swaps designated as hedges, are summarized below.

2001

Interest rate and
cross-currency

swaps(f)

Stated Effective
Interest Pay Pay Interest Swap

Balance Rate(e) Float Fixed Rate(g) Maturities 

Commercial paper 
due 2002(a) $ 754 3.9% $ — $700 5.6% 2002–2004

U.S. dollar notes and 
debentures due 
2002–2093(h) (i) 8,921 5.9% 4,227 — 4.8% 2002–2021

Dual currency and 
foreign notes 
due 2003(c) 42 14.0% 42 — 3.5% 2003

Other due 2002–2027 52 4.3% — — n/a n/a

9,769 5.8%
Less current portion 829

Total long-term 
borrowings $8,940 $4,269 $700

2000

Interest rate and
cross-currency

swaps(f)

Stated Effective
Interest Pay Pay Interest Swap

Balance Rate(e) Float Fixed Rate(g) Maturities 

Commercial paper 
due 2001(a) $ 940 6.5% $ — $900 5.5% 2001–2002

U.S. dollar notes and 
debentures due 
2001–2093(b) (h) 7,578 6.4% 3,472 — 6.8% 2001–2030

Dual currency and 
foreign notes 
due 2001–2003(c) 146 6.9% 146 — 6.5% 2001–2003

Senior participating 
notes due 2001(d) 469 4.2% — — n/a n/a

Other due 2001–2027 328 6.4% — — n/a n/a

9,461 6.3% — —
Less current portion 2,502 — —

Total long-term 
borrowings $6,959 $3,618 $900

(a)As of September 30  2001  the company has established bank facilities totaling $4.5
billion  which expire in one to four years. Under the bank facilities  the company has 
the option to borrow at various interest rates. Commercial paper is classified as long-term
since the company intends to refinance these borrowings on a long-term basis through
continued commercial paper borrowings supported by available bank facilities.

(b)Includes $571 million in 2000 of minority interest in a real estate investment trust
established by the company.

(c)Amounts at September 30  2001 are denominated in South African rands. Amounts at
September 30  2000 are denominated in Swiss francs and South African rands. 

(d)Additional interest was paid based on the performance of designated portfolios of films.
The effective interest rate was 6.5% at September 30  2000.

(e)The stated interest rate represents the weighted-average coupon rate for each category 
of borrowings. For floating rate borrowings  interest rates are based upon the rates at
September 30  2001 and 2000; these rates are not necessarily an indication of future
interest rates.

(f)Amounts represent notional values of interest rate swaps.
(g)The effective interest rate reflects the effect of interest rate and cross-currency swaps

entered into with respect to certain of these borrowings as indicated in the “Pay Float” 
and “Pay Fixed” columns.

(h)Includes $102 million in 2001 and 2000 of mandatorily redeemable preferred stock
maturing in 2004.

(i) Includes a $230 million write-up in 2001 due to market value adjustments for debt with
qualifying hedges that are recorded as assets on the balance sheet.

Borrowings, excluding market value adjustments and commercial
paper have the following scheduled maturities:

2002 $ 829
2003 760
2004 2,657
2005 845
2006 1,522
Thereafter 2,172

$8,785

The company capitalizes interest on assets constructed for its
parks, resorts and other property, and on theatrical and television pro-
ductions in process. In 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, total inter-
est costs incurred were $606 million, $702 million and $826 million,
of which $94 million, $132 million and $109 million were capitalized.

        



N O T E  6 .  I N C O M E  T A X E S  

2001 2000 1999

Income Before Income Taxes, Minority 
Interests and the Cumulative Effect
of Accounting Changes 

Domestic (including U.S. exports) $1,076 $2,509 $2,288
Foreign subsidiaries 207 124 115

$1,283 $2,633 $2,403

Income Tax Provision
Current

Federal $ 721 $ 977 $ 715
State 82 182 140
Foreign (including withholding) 198 177 174

1,001 1,336 1,029

Deferred
Federal (8) 247 (21)
State 66 23 6

58 270 (15)

$1,059 $1,606 $1,014

Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 2001 2000

Deferred tax assets
Accrued liabilities $(1,087) $ (990)
Foreign subsidiaries (156) (149)
Loss and credit carryforwards (195) (117)

Total deferred tax assets (1,438) (1,256)

Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciable, amortizable and 

other property 2,663 2,541
Licensing revenues 115 132
Leveraged leases 316 323
Investment in Euro Disney 232 207
Other, net 166 209

Total deferred tax liabilities 3,492 3,412

Net deferred tax liability before valuation 
allowance 2,054 2,156

Valuation allowance 54 54

Net deferred tax liability $ 2,108 $ 2,210

Reconciliation of Effective Income Tax Rate 2001 2000 1999

Federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Nondeductible amortization of 

intangible assets 18.1 14.8 5.8
State taxes, net of federal 

income tax benefit 7.5 5.1 4.0
Dispositions 1.4 7.5 —
Impairment of intangible assets 20.6 — —
Foreign sales corporation (1.9) (1.2) (1.3)
Other, net 1.8 (0.2) (1.3)

82.5% 61.0% 42.2%

Deferred tax assets at September 30, 2001 and 2000 were reduced
by a valuation allowance relating to a portion of the tax benefits
attributable to certain net operating losses (NOLs) reflected on state
tax returns of Infoseek and its subsidiaries for periods prior to the
Infoseek acquisition on November 18, 1999 (see Note 2), where appli-
cable state tax laws limit the utilization of such NOLs. Since the valu-
ation allowance relates to acquired deferred tax assets, the subsequent
realization of these tax benefits would result in the application of the
allowance amount as a reduction to goodwill. 

At September 30, 2001, approximately $191 million of foreign tax
credit carryforwards was available as credits against future income
taxes. Foreign tax credit carryforwards will expire between the years
2003 and 2006.

In 2001, 2000 and 1999, income tax benefits attributable to
employee stock option transactions of $48 million, $197 million and
$96 million, respectively, were allocated to stockholders’ equity.

N O T E  7 .  P E N S I O N  A N D  O T H E R  

B E N E F I T  P R O G R A M S

The company maintains pension and postretirement medical benefit
plans covering most of its domestic employees not covered by union
or industry-wide plans. Employees hired after January 1, 1994 are not
eligible for postretirement medical benefits. With respect to its quali-
fied defined benefit pension plans, the company’s policy is to fund, 
at a minimum, the amount necessary on an actuarial basis to provide
for benefits in accordance with the requirements of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Pension benefits are gener-
ally based on years of service and/or compensation. 
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The following chart summarizes the balance sheet impact, as well
as the benefit obligations, assets, funded status and rate assumptions
associated with the pension and postretirement medical benefit plans.

Postretirement
Pension Plans Benefit Plans

2001 2000 2001 2000

Reconciliation of funded status 
of the plans and the amounts 
included in the company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Projected benefit obligations
Beginning obligations $(1,825) $(1,779) $(413) $(291)
Service cost (90) (87) (13) (10)
Interest cost (143) (131) (33) (21)
Amendments (10) — — (24)
Actuarial gains (losses) (146) 89 (139) (80)
Benefits paid 83 78 13 13
Curtailment gains — 5 — —

Ending obligations $(2,131) $(1,825) $(585) $(413)

Fair value of plans’ assets
Beginning fair value $ 2,773 $ 2,211 $ 256 $ 203
Actual return on plans’ assets (230) 674 (23) 58
Employer contributions 7 5 9 8
Participants’ contributions 2 1 — —
Benefits paid (83) (78) (13) (13)
Expenses (19) (40) — —

Ending fair value $ 2,450 $ 2,773 $ 229 $ 256

Funded status of the plans $ 319 $ 948 $(356) $(157)
Unrecognized net (gain) loss (129) (779) 145 (38)
Unrecognized prior 

service cost 11 1 4 5

Net balance sheet asset 
(liability) $ 201 $ 170 $(207) $(190)

Amounts recognized in the 
balance sheet consist of:

Prepaid benefit cost $ 357 $ 310 $ 34 $ 31
Accrued benefit liability (156) (140) (241) (221)

$ 201 $ 170 $(207) $(190)

Rate Assumptions:
Discount rate 7.5% 8.0% 7.5% 8.0%
Rate of return on plans’ assets 9.5% 10.0% 9.5% 10.0%
Salary increases 5.0% 5.5% n/a n/a
Annual increase in cost 

of benefits n/a n/a 10.0% 7.5%

The projected benefit obligations, accumulated benefit obligations
and fair value of plan assets for the pension plans with accumulated
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $151 million, $119
million and $0 for 2001, respectively, and $126 million, $94 million
and $0 for 2000, respectively.

The accumulated postretirement benefit obligations and fair value
of plan assets for postretirement plans with accumulated postretire-
ment benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $441 million
and $79 million for 2001, respectively, and $319 million and $90 mil-
lion for 2000, respectively.

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on
the amounts reported for the postretirement medical benefit plans. 
A one percentage point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend
rates would reduce total service and interest costs and postretirement
benefit obligations by $13 million and $98 million, respectively. 

A one percentage point increase in the assumed health care cost 
trend rates would increase total service and interest costs and post
retirement benefit obligations by $18 million and $129 million,
respectively. The annual increase in cost of postretirement benefits 
is assumed to decrease 1.0 percentage point per year for 5 years 
until reaching 5.0%.

The company’s accumulated pension benefit obligations at
September 30, 2001 and 2000 were $1.9 billion and $1.6 billion,
respectively, of which 97.7% were vested. In addition, the company
contributes to various pension plans under union and industry-
wide agreements.

The income statement expenses (credits) of pension plans for
2001, 2000 and 1999 totaled $(24) million, $(3) million and $11 mil-
lion, respectively. The discount rate, rate of return on plan assets and
salary increase assumptions for the pension plans were 7.5%, 10.5%
and 5.1%, respectively, in 1999. The income statement expense for
postretirement benefit plans for 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $26 mil-
lion, $6 million and $10 million, respectively. The discount rate, rate
of return on plan assets and annual increase in cost of postretirement
benefits assumptions were 7.5%, 10.5% and 6.1%, respectively, 
in 1999.

The market values of the company’s shares held by the pension
plan master trust as of September 30, 2001 and 2000 were $52 million
and $107 million, respectively.

For eligible employees, the company has savings and investment
plans which allow eligible employees to allocate up to 10% or 15% 
of salary through payroll deductions depending on the plan in which
the employee participates. The company matches 50% of the
employee’s pre-tax contributions, up to plan limits. In 2001, 2000 
and 1999, the costs of these plans were $32 million, $30 million and
$29 million, respectively.

N O T E  8 .  S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y  

On March 20, 2001, the company converted all of its outstanding
Internet Group common stock into Disney common stock, resulting 
in the issuance of approximately 8.6 million shares of Disney
common stock.

For the year, the company repurchased a total of 63.9 million
shares of Disney common stock for approximately $1.1 billion. Under
its share repurchase program, the company was authorized to repur-
chase approximately 330 million additional Disney shares as of
September 30, 2001. Also pursuant to its share repurchase program,
the company repurchased a total of 1.8 million Internet Group shares
for approximately $10 million during 2001.

In December 1999, the company established the TWDC Stock
Compensation Fund II (Fund II) pursuant to the repurchase program
to acquire shares of both Disney and Internet Group common stock
for the purpose of funding certain future stock-based compensation.
Any shares acquired by Fund II that are not utilized must be disposed
of by December 31, 2002. In 1996, the company established the
TWDC Stock Compensation Fund (Fund) pursuant to the repurchase
program to acquire shares of company common stock for the purpose
of funding certain stock-based compensation. All shares acquired by
the Fund were disposed of and the Fund was dissolved in April 1999. 

On November 27, 2001, the Board of Directors declared a cash 
dividend of $0.21 per share applicable to fiscal 2001. The dividend is
payable December 21, 2001 to stockholders at the close of business
December 7, 2001. The company paid a $434 million dividend ($0.21
per Disney share) during the first quarter of fiscal 2000 applicable to
fiscal 1999 and paid a $438 million dividend ($0.21 per Disney share)
during the first quarter of the current year applicable to fiscal 2000. 

        



N O T E  9 .  S T O C K  I N C E N T I V E  P L A N S

Under various plans, the company may grant stock options and other
awards to key executive, management and creative personnel at exer-
cise prices equal to or exceeding the market price at the date of grant.
In general, options for common stock become exercisable over a five-
year period from the grant date and expire 10 years after the date of
grant. In certain cases for senior executives, options become exercis-
able over periods up to 10 years and expire up to 15 years after date of
grant. Shares available for future option grants at September 30, 2001,
totaled 124 million. 

On November 26, 2000, one of the company’s stock incentive
plans expired, reducing the number of Disney shares available for
future option grants by 21 million.

The following table summarizes information about stock option
transactions, including the conversion of all the DIG shares into DIS
shares effective March 2001 (shares in millions):

2001 2000 1999

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at 
beginning of year 162 $ 27.24 159 $24.29 163 $21.70

Awards canceled (13) 8.35 (18) 29.56 (9) 27.35
Awards granted 43 29.71 49 32.92 20 32.97
Awards exercised (9) 18.72 (28) 18.94 (15) 13.92
Options converted(1) 5 102.61 — — — —

Outstanding at 
September 30 188 $ 29.54 162 $27.24 159 $24.29

Exercisable at 
September 30 66 $ 25.64 51 $21.22 57 $19.01

(1)Represents conversion of all outstanding DIG options that were converted into options to
purchase DIS options on March 20  2001 (See Note 2).

The following table summarizes information about stock options
outstanding at September 30, 2001 (shares in millions):

Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted
Average

Remaining Weighted Weighted
Years of Average Average

Range of Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices of Options Life Price of Options Price

$10–$ 14 6 2.1 $ 13.65 6 $ 13.65
$15–$ 19 14 3.3 18.26 12 18.33
$20–$ 24 38 5.3 21.52 22 21.60
$25–$ 29 34 7.5 27.10 11 26.88
$30–$ 34 69 8.7 31.55 8 32.94
$35–$ 39 13 6.9 37.31 5 37.52
$40–$ 44 11 9.0 40.98 1 40.50
$45–$395 3 8.0 113.05 1 117.84

188 66

The following table reflects pro forma net income (loss) and earn-
ings (loss) per share had the company elected to adopt the fair value
approach of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. 

(in millions, except for per share data) 2001 2000 1999

Attributed net income (loss):
As reported $ (41) $1,196 $1,300
Pro forma (325) 958 1,169

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 
attributed to Disney common stock:

As reported (0.02) 0.57 0.62
Pro forma (0.15) 0.46 0.56

These pro forma amounts may not be representative of future dis-
closures since the estimated fair value of stock options is amortized to
expense over the vesting period, and additional options may be
granted in future years. 

The weighted average fair values of options at their grant date dur-
ing 2001, 2000 and 1999, where the exercise price equaled the market
price on the grant date, were $10.25, $12.49 and $11.11, respectively.
The estimated fair value of each Disney option granted is calculated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted average
assumptions used in the model were as follows:

2001 2000 1999

Risk-free interest rate 5.0% 6.5% 5.3%
Expected years until exercise 6.0 6.0 6.0
Expected stock volatility 27% 26% 25%
Dividend yield .70% .59% .69%
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N O T E  1 0 .  D E T A I L  O F  C E R T A I N  B A L A N C E

S H E E T  A C C O U N T S  

2001 2000

Current receivables
Accounts receivable $ 3,144 $ 3,416
Income taxes receivable 122 94
Other 282 295
Allowance for doubtful accounts (205) (206)

$ 3,343 $ 3,599

Other current assets
Prepaid expenses $ 444 $ 493
Other 156 142

$ 600 $ 635

Intangible assets
Cost in excess of net assets acquired $14,073 $15,746
Trademarks 1,102 1,112
FCC licenses 1,100 1,100
Other 1,117 1,080
Accumulated amortization (2,852) (2,921)

$14,540 $16,117

Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3,822 $ 4,278
Payroll and employee benefits 710 778
Other 71 105

$ 4,603 $ 5,161

N O T E  1 1 .  S E G M E N T S  

The company is in the leisure and entertainment business and has
operations in four major segments: Media Networks, Parks & Resorts,
Studio Entertainment and Consumer Products, as described in Note 1.
The company has changed the reporting structure of the various com-
ponents of its Internet operations and as a result, the Internet Group 
is no longer reported as a separate segment. The ESPN, ABC, Disney
and family-branded Internet Web sites are reported in the Media
Networks segment and DisneyVacations.com is reported in the Parks
& Resorts segment. Also during the year, the Disney Store Catalog
and the Disney Store Online were reassigned from the Internet Group
to Consumer Products. Prior-year amounts have been reclassified to
reflect the current year presentation.

The operating segments reported below are the segments of the
company for which separate financial information is available and for
which operating results are evaluated regularly by executive manage-
ment in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing perform-
ance. The accounting policies of the business segments are the same
as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

Segment operating results evaluated include earnings before cor-
porate and unallocated shared expenses, amortization of intangible
assets, gain on sale of businesses, net interest expense and other,
equity in the income of investees, restructuring and impairment
charges, income taxes and minority interests. Corporate and unallo-
cated shared expenses principally consist of executive management
and certain unallocated administrative support functions.

The following segment results include allocations of certain costs,
including certain information technology costs, pension, legal and
other shared services, which are allocated based on consumption. 
In addition, while all significant intersegment transactions have been
eliminated, Studio Entertainment revenues and operating income 

include an allocation of Consumer Products revenues, which is meant
to reflect a portion of Consumer Products revenues attributable to cer-
tain film properties. These allocations are agreed-upon amounts
between the businesses and may differ from amounts that would be
negotiated in an arm’s-length transaction. 

Business Segments 2001 2000 1999

Revenues
Media Networks $ 9,569 $ 9,836 $ 8,012

Parks & Resorts 7,004 6,809 6,141

Studio Entertainment
Third parties 6,049 5,930 6,100
Intersegment 57 81 76

6,106 6,011 6,176

Consumer Products
Third parties 2,647 2,843 3,202
Intersegment (57) (81) (76)

2,590 2,762 3,126

Total consolidated 
revenues $25,269 $25,418 $23,455

Segment operating income
Media Networks $ 1,758 $ 1,985 $ 1,512
Parks & Resorts 1,586 1,615 1,494
Studio Entertainment 260 126 162
Consumer Products 401 386 592

Total segment 
operating income $ 4,005 $ 4,112 $ 3,760

Segment operating income $ 4,005 $ 4,112 $ 3,760
Corporate and unallocated 

shared expenses (406) (354) (335)
Amortization of intangible assets (767) (1,233) (456)
Gain on sale of businesses 22 489 345
Net interest expense and other (417) (497) (612)
Equity in the income of investees 300 208 (127)
Restructuring and impairment 

charges (1,454) (92) (172)

Income before income taxes, 
minority interests and 
the cumulative effect of 
accounting changes $ 1,283 $ 2,633 $ 2,403

Capital expenditures
Media Networks $ 207 $ 249 $ 168
Parks & Resorts 1,278 1,524 1,699
Studio Entertainment 36 50 51
Consumer Products 70 73 114
Corporate 204 117 102

Total consolidated 
capital expenditures $ 1,795 $ 2,013 $ 2,134

Depreciation expense
Media Networks $ 176 $ 169 $ 135
Parks & Resorts 604 582 498
Studio Entertainment 47 54 64
Consumer Products 90 109 128
Corporate 70 48 26

Total consolidated 
depreciation expense $ 987 $ 962 $ 851

        



Business Segments (continued) 2001 2000 1999

Amortization expense
Media Networks $ 748 $ 1,209 $ 428
Parks & Resorts 15 21 21
Studio Entertainment 3 1 1
Consumer Products 1 2 6

Total consolidated 
amortization expense $ 767 $ 1,233 $ 456

Identifiable assets 
Media Networks(1) $20,357 $21,932
Parks & Resorts(1) 11,369 10,884
Studio Entertainment 6,614 7,298
Consumer Products 1,041 1,173
Corporate(2) 4,318 3,740

Total Consolidated Assets $43,699 $45,027

Supplemental revenue data
Media Networks

Advertising $ 5,988 $ 6,637 $ 5,486
Parks & Resorts

Merchandise, food and 
beverage 2,046 2,094 1,860

Admissions 2,050 2,006 1,878

Geographic Segments

Revenues 
United States and Canada $20,970 $21,113 $19,243
Europe 2,612 2,756 2,587
Asia Pacific 1,237 1,154 1,235
Latin America and Other 450 395 390

$25,269 $25,418 $23,455

Segment operating income
United States and Canada $ 3,045 $ 3,332 $ 2,934
Europe 533 471 409
Asia Pacific 437 320 383
Latin America and Other (10) (11) 34

$ 4,005 $ 4,112 $ 3,760

Identifiable assets 
United States and Canada $41,850 $43,083
Europe 1,428 1,545
Asia Pacific 292 281
Latin America and Other 129 118

$43,699 $45,027

(1)Identifiable assets include amounts associated with equity method investments as follows:

Media Networks $ 792 $ 759
Parks & Resorts 357 344

(2)Primarily deferred tax assets  other investments  fixed and other assets

N O T E  1 2 .  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S

Investments As of September 30, 2001 and 2000, the company held
$92 million and $330 million, respectively, of securities classified as
available-for-sale. As of September 30, 2001 and September 30, 2000,
the company also held $756 million and $796 million, respectively, 
of non-public cost method investments. Realized gains and losses are
determined principally on an average cost basis. In 2001, 2000 and
1999, the company recognized $87 million, $41 million and $70 mil-
lion, respectively, in net gains on sales of securities. 

In addition, in 2001 and 2000, the company recorded non-cash
charges of $241 million and $37 million, respectively, to reflect other-
than-temporary losses in value of certain investments. In 2001, 2000
and 1999, unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities
were not material.

During 2001 and 2000, the company hedged certain investment
holdings using forward sale contracts. The contracts, with notional
amounts totaling $530 million and $663 million in 2001 and 2000,
respectively, expire in three years. 

Interest Rate Risk Management The company is exposed to the
impact of interest rate changes. The company’s objective is to manage
the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and on
the market value of its investments and borrowings. The company
maintains fixed rate debt as a percentage of its net debt between a
minimum and maximum percentage, which is set by policy.

Significant interest rate risk management instruments held by the
company during 2001 and 2000 included pay-floating and pay-fixed
swaps. Pay-floating swaps effectively convert medium and long-term
obligations to LIBOR rate indexed variable rate instruments. These
swap agreements expire in one to 20 years. Pay-fixed swaps effec-
tively convert floating rate obligations to fixed rate instruments. The
pay-fixed swaps expire in one to three years. In addition to the $700
million of pay-fixed swaps disclosed in Note 5, as of September 30,
2001, the company held $500 million of pay-fixed swaps that were
de-designated as hedges. As of September 30, 2000, the company held
$186 million of pay-floating swaps and $786 million of pay-fixed
swaps that were de-designated as hedges. The change in market val-
ues related to these swaps from the time they were de-designated as
hedges, has been included in earnings.

The impact of interest rate risk management activities on income
in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was not material. The amount of deferred
gains and losses from interest rate risk management transactions at
September 30, 2001 was not material. 

Foreign Exchange Risk Management The company transacts busi-
ness globally and is subject to risks associated with changing foreign
exchange rates. The company’s objective is to reduce earnings and
cash flow volatility associated with foreign exchange rate changes 
to allow management to focus attention on core business issues 
and challenges. By policy, the company maintains hedge coverage
between minimum and maximum percentages of its forecasted 
foreign exchange exposures for periods not to exceed five years. 
The gains and losses on these contracts offset changes in the value 
of the related exposures.

73

The Walt Disney Company and Subsidiaries

        



74

It is the company’s policy to enter into foreign currency transac-
tions only to the extent considered necessary to meet its objectives as
stated above. The company does not enter into foreign currency trans-
actions for speculative purposes.

The company enters into various contracts that change in value as
foreign exchange rates change to protect the value of its existing for-
eign currency assets and liabilities, commitments and forecasted 
foreign currency revenues. The company uses option strategies and
forward contracts that provide for the sale of foreign currencies to
hedge forecasted revenues. The company also uses forward contracts
to hedge foreign currency assets and liabilities. While these hedging
instruments are subject to fluctuations in value, such fluctuations are
offset by changes in the value of the underlying exposures being
hedged. The principal currencies hedged are the European euro,
British pound, Japanese yen and Canadian dollar. Cross-currency
swaps are used to hedge foreign currency-denominated borrowings.

Gains and losses on contracts hedging forecasted foreign currency
revenues are recorded to AOCI, and reclassified to current earnings
when such revenues are recognized, and offset changes in the value of
the foreign currency revenues. At September 30, 2001 and 2000, the
company had deferred gains of $91 million and $24 million, respec-
tively, and deferred losses of $24 million and $7 million, respectively,
related to foreign currency hedge transactions. Deferred amounts to be
recognized can change with market conditions and will be substan-
tially offset by changes in the value of the related hedged transactions.
The impact of foreign exchange risk management activities on operat-
ing income in 2001 and in 2000 was a net gain of $142 million and
$195 million, respectively.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments At September 30, 2001 and
2000, the company’s financial instruments included cash, cash
equivalents, investments, receivables, accounts payable, borrowings
and interest rate, forward and foreign exchange risk management
contracts.

At September 30, 2001 and 2000, the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, receivables and accounts payable approximated carrying
values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The esti-
mated fair values of other financial instruments subject to fair value
disclosures, determined based on broker quotes or quoted market
prices or rates for the same or similar instruments, and the related 
carrying amounts are as follows:

2001 2000

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in millions)                                           Amount Value Amount Value

Investments $ 405 $ 621 $ 732 $ 989
Borrowings $(9,769) $(9,991) $(8,890) $(8,760)
Risk management contracts:

Foreign exchange forwards $ 65 $ 65 $ 16 $ 22
Foreign exchange options 20 20 27 39
Interest rate swaps 240 240 2 (83)
Forward sale contracts (3) (3) — 41
Cross-currency swaps (20) (20) 5 (45)

$ 302 $ 302 $ 50 $ (26)

Credit Concentrations The company continually monitors its posi-
tions with, and the credit quality of, the financial institutions that are
counterparties to its financial instruments, and does not anticipate
nonperformance by the counterparties. The company would not real-
ize a material loss as of September 30, 2001 in the event of nonperfor-
mance by any one counterparty. The company enters into transactions
only with financial institution counterparties that have a credit rating
of A- or better. The company’s current policy regarding agreements
with financial institution counterparties is generally to require collat-
eral in the event credit ratings fall below A- or in the event aggregate
exposures exceed limits as defined by contract. In addition, the
company limits the amount of investment credit exposure with any
one institution. 

The company’s trade receivables and investments do not represent
a significant concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2001 due to
the wide variety of customers and markets into which the company’s
products are sold, their dispersion across many geographic areas, and
the diversification of the company’s portfolio among instruments 
and issuers.

N O T E  1 3 .  C O M M I T M E N T S  A N D

C O N T I N G E N C I E S  

The company has various contractual commitments, including certain
guarantees, which are primarily for the purchase of broadcast rights
for various feature films, sports and other programming aggregating
approximately $13.4 billion as of September 30, 2001, including
approximately $10.1 billion related to sports programming rights,
primarily NFL, College Football and MLB. This amount is substan-
tially payable over the next five years.

The company has various real estate operating leases, including
retail outlets and distribution centers for consumer products and office
space for general and administrative purposes. Future minimum lease
payments under these non-cancelable operating leases totaled $1.8
billion at September 30, 2001, payable as follows (in millions):

2002 $239
2003 217
2004 190
2005 156
2006 184
Thereafter 786

Rental expense for the above operating leases during 2001, 2000
and 1999, including common-area maintenance and contingent rentals,
was $420 million, $482 million and $385 million, respectively.

        



The company, together with, in some instances, certain of its
directors and officers, is a defendant or co-defendant in various legal
actions involving copyright, breach of contract and various other
claims incident to the conduct of its businesses. 

All Pro Sports Camps, Inc., Nicholas Stracick and Edward Russell
v. Walt Disney Company, Walt Disney World Co., Disney Development
Company and Steven B. Wilson. On January 8, 1997, the plaintiff
entity and two of its principals or former principals filed a lawsuit
against the company, two of its subsidiaries and a former employee in
the Circuit Court for Orange County, Florida. The plaintiffs asserted
that the defendants had misappropriated from them the concept used
for the Disney’s Wide World of Sports complex at the Walt Disney
World Resort. On August 11, 2000, a jury returned a verdict against
the company and its two subsidiaries in the amount of $240 million.
Subsequently, the Court awarded plaintiffs an additional $100.00 in
exemplary damages based on particular findings by the jury. The com-
pany has filed an appeal from the judgment and believes that there are
substantial grounds for complete reversal or reduction of the verdict. 

Management believes that it is not currently possible to estimate
the impact, if any, that the ultimate resolution of these matters will
have on the company’s results of operations, financial position or 
cash flows.

N O T E  1 4 .  R E S T R U C T U R I N G  A N D

I M P A I R M E N T  C H A R G E S  

The company recorded restructuring and impairment charges for 
the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999 summarized 
as follows:

Year Ended September 30,

(in millions) 2001 2000 1999

GO.com intangible 
assets impairment $ 820 $— $ —

GO.com severance, fixed asset 
write-offs and other 58 — —

Investment impairments 254 61 —
Workforce reduction and other 111 — 132
Chicago DisneyQuest closure 94 — —
Asset impairment 63 31 40
Disney Store closures 54 — —

Total restructuring and 
impairment charges $1,454 $92 $172

In 2001, the company recorded restructuring and impairment
charges totaling $1.45 billion. The GO.com charge is for the closure
of the GO.com portal business and includes a non-cash write-off of
intangible assets totaling $820 million (see Note 2). The investment
impairment charge is for other-than-temporary declines in the fair
value of certain Internet investments. The workforce reduction
charges are primarily for severance costs and are discussed more fully
below. The DisneyQuest and Disney Store closure charges are for the
closure of the Chicago facility and approximately 100 Disney Stores
and includes the write-down of fixed assets and leasehold improve-
ments, leasehold termination costs, severance and other related clo-
sure costs. The asset impairment charge is for certain long-lived
assets, primarily at the Disney Store and Disney Catalog. These assets
were evaluated for impairment under a held for use model due to
declining cash flows. Fair value was generally determined based on
discounted cash flows.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2001, the company initiated a
plan to eliminate 4,000 full-time jobs through a combination of volun-
tary and involuntary reductions. The reduction affected employees in
all business units and geographic regions. The $111 million of costs
associated with the workforce reduction consist primarily of sever-
ance costs and write-offs of idled facilities. As of September 30, 2001,
the company had substantially completed its workforce reductions and
paid termination benefits totaling $92 million. 

As of September 30, 2001, approximately $118 million of 
the restructuring and impairment charges remained as an accrued 
liability on the balance sheet, of which $19 million related to the
workforce reduction and $21 million is from prior-year restructuring
charges. The majority of this amount is expected to be paid in 
fiscal 2002.

In 2000, impairment charges amounted to $92 million, primarily
related to write-downs of certain Internet investments and an asset
impairment write-down at toysmart.com in connection with 
its closure. 

In 1999, the company recorded restructuring and impairment
charges totaling $172 million. The charges included $132 million for
severance and other charges and $40 million for long-lived asset
impairments. The restructuring charges included severance and lease
and other contract cancellation costs, primarily related to the consoli-
dation of operations in the company’s broadcasting, television pro-
duction and regional entertainment businesses as well as non-cash
charges for write-downs of underutilized assets.
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N O T E  1 5 .  S U B S E Q U E N T  E V E N T

On October 24, 2001, the company acquired 100% of the outstanding
common stock of Fox Family Worldwide, Inc. (“FFW”) for $5.2 bil-
lion, including $2.9 billion in cash, plus the assumption of $2.3 billion
in debt and preferred stock. Upon the closing of the acquisition, the
company changed FFW’s name to ABC Family Worldwide, Inc.
Among the businesses acquired was the Fox Family Channel which
has been changed to the ABC Family Channel, a programming service
that currently reaches approximately 81 million cable and satellite tel-
evision subscribers throughout the U.S.; a 76% interest in Fox Kids
Europe, a Dutch public subsidiary that reaches more than 24 million
subscribers across Europe; Fox Kids channel in Latin America and 
the Saban library and entertainment production businesses. Under the
terms of the agreement, the Fox Kid’s Network, a block of children’s
programming broadcasted primarily by Fox-affiliated TV stations, and
ongoing rights to use the “Fox” name (other than certain transitional
rights) were not included in the acquired operations. Also in connec-
tion with the acquisition, the company acquired programming com-
mitments totaling approximately $1 billion, including approximately
$675 million for certain MLB games through 2006.

The company’s motivation for the acquisition was to increase
shareholder value. The company believes that it can reach this
objective by improving the programming of acquired cable channels
through the use of new strategies, including repurposing the program-
ming of the ABC Television Network, and by reducing operating costs
through consolidation.

The acquisition of FFW is being accounted for as a purchase, 
in accordance with SFAS 141. The company is in the process of 
identifying and valuing the intangible assets of FFW by reporting 
unit. The allocation of the purchase price has not yet been completed.

The following table summarizes FFW’s carrying amounts for
assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of September 30, 2001,
without adjustments for the company’s purchase accounting 
(in millions, unaudited).

Cash $ 87
Receivables 269
Programming costs 657
Other assets 82

Total assets acquired 1,095
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (482)
Borrowings and preferred stock (2,230)
Minority interest (49)

$(1,666)

        



(unaudited, in millions, except per share data) December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30

2001(1) (2)

Revenues $7,433 $6,049 $5,975 $5,812
Segment operating income 1,231 1,025 1,122 627
Net income (loss) 242 (567) 392 53
Earnings (loss) per share attributed to:

Disney
Diluted $ 0.16 $ (0.26) $ 0.19 $ 0.03
Basic 0.16 (0.26) 0.19 0.03

Internet Group (basic and diluted) (2.29) (0.45) n/a n/a

2000 (3) (4) (5)

Revenues $6,940 $6,307 $6,053 $6,118
Segment operating income 1,147 859 1,200 906
Net income 315 77 361 167
Earnings (loss) per share attributed to:(4)

Disney
Diluted $ 0.17 $ 0.08 $ 0.21 $ 0.11
Basic 0.17 0.08 0.21 0.12

Internet Group (basic and diluted) (0.95) (1.87) (1.75) (1.61)

(1)Net income does not reflect one-time after-tax charges for the adoption of SOP 00-2 (Film Accounting) totaling $228 million ($0.11 per share) and SFAS 133
(Derivative Accounting) totaling $50 million ($0.02 per share), respectively, in the first quarter of 2001. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2)Reflects restructuring and impairment charges of $194 million, $996 million, $138 million and $126 million in the first, second, third and fourth quarter of 
2001, respectively. The earnings per Disney share impact of the charges were $0.00, $0.44, $0.04 and $0.04, respectively. See Note 14 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

(3)Reflects a $243 million pre-tax gain on the sale of Fairchild Publications in the first quarter of 2000. There was no earnings per Disney share impact, 
as the income taxes on the transaction largely offset the pre-tax gain. 

(4)Reflects a $93 million pre-tax gain on the sale of the company’s interest in Eurosport, a European sports cable service, in the third quarter of 2000. 
The earnings per Disney share impact of the gain was $0.02. 

(5)Reflects a $153 million pre-tax gain on the sale of Ultraseek Corporation in the fourth quarter of 2000. The earnings per Disney share impact was $0.01. 

Q U A R T E R L Y  F I N A N C I A L  S U M M A R Y
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(In millions, except per share data) 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Statements of income
Revenues $25,269 $25,418 $23,455 $22,999 $22,490
Income before the cumulative effect of accounting changes 120 920 1,300 1,850 1,966

Per share – 
Disney attributed (loss) earnings 

Diluted $ (0.02) $ 0.57 $ 0.62 $ 0.89 $ 0.95
Basic (0.02) 0.58 0.63 0.91 0.97

Dividends 0.21 0.21 0.21 0.20 0.17

Balance sheets
Total assets $43,699 $45,027 $43,679 $41,378 $38,497
Borrowings 9,769 9,461 11,693 11,685 11,068
Stockholders’ equity 22,672 24,100 20,975 19,388 17,285

Statements of cash flows
Cash provided by operations $ 3,048 $ 3,755 $ 2,568 $ 1,780 $ 2,010
Investing activities (2,015) (1,091) (2,290) (2,330) (847)
Financing activities (1,257) (2,236) 9 360 (1,124)

S E L E C T E D  F I N A N C I A L  D A T A
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M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  F O R

F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

Management is responsible for the preparation of the company’s con-
solidated financial statements and related information appearing in
this report. Management believes that the consolidated financial state-
ments fairly reflect the form and substance of transactions and that the
financial statements reasonably present the company’s financial posi-
tion and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles. Management also has included in the com-
pany’s financial statements amounts that are based on estimates and
judgements which it believes are reasonable under the circumstances.

The independent accountants audit the company’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards and provide an objective, independent review of the fairness
of reported operating results and financial position.

The Board of Directors of the company has an Audit Committee
composed of seven non-management Directors. The Committee meets
periodically with financial management, the internal auditors and the
independent accountants to review accounting, control, auditing and
financial reporting matters.

S U P P L E M E N T A L  I N F O R M A T I O N

Stock Exchanges

Disney common stock is listed for trading on the New York and
Pacific stock exchanges under the ticker symbol DIS. Certain 
debt securities of the company are listed on the Luxembourg 
stock exchange.

Regis t rar  and Stock  Transfer  Agent

The Walt Disney Company
Shareholder Services
611 N. Brand Boulevard, Suite 6100
Glendale, California 91203
(818) 553-7200 

I ndependent  Accountants

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Los Angeles

Other  In format ion

A copy of the company’s annual report filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (Form 10-K) will be furnished without charge
to any stockholder upon written request to the address listed on 
the left.

Please visit The Walt Disney Company Investor Relations site 
at www.disney.com/investors. On this site you can order financial
documents online, send e-mail inquiries, get instructions on how to
transfer shares and review additional information about the company.

R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  A C C O U N T A N T S

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
The Walt Disney Company

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of The Walt Disney Company and its subsidiaries (the Company) 
at September 30, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations 
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
September 30, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Los Angeles, California
November 7, 2001
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